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' ECCIESIASTICAL HISTORY OF PUERTO RICQ e 3
Rvdo. P. Esteban Reus Garcia eﬂ-ﬂﬂﬂ.
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cross was planted on Puertorrican §oil by Christopher Columbus

on Nov. 19, $,93. In 1508 when Juan Ponce de Leon, the first governor,
arrived to ‘colonize the island he brought with him priests to minister
to the new colony and to teach and baptize the Indians in the Roman Cath-
olic faith.
he first church was built in 1511 at Caparra, assmail village across
the bay, founded by Ponce de Leon as the capital of t;E"iBiand. This
church was dedicated to St. John the Baptist. This same church became the
first cathedral when Bishop Alenso Mapso, the first on American seoil, ar-
rived in May 1513. Puerto Rico was constituted a Roman Catholic Diocese
by Pope Julius II on Aug. 8, 1511, the bishop being thé éuffragan of the
Archbishopric of Sewville. 1In 1512 a similar structure was built in San
:‘}er'mﬁn near the western coast.
The location of the present Roman Catholic Cathedral marks the site
of the first church built in 1520 in the capital city under Bishop Mamso ,
after the city was moved from Caparra.
In 1524 the first hospital was built near the "Fortaleza" (Governor"s
Palace), attended by sisters who were the first ones to come to the island.
Fifty-six Roman bishops have governed this ancient see, the cradle of
christianity in America, several of them born in the new world and one in
the city of San Juan who was co-founder of the first conciliaryseminary.,
It was in Puerto Rico that the first Episcopal cecnsecration in Amer-
ica took place. In 1529 Bishop Mamso consecrated the bishop elect of
Santo Domingo.
Because of the increased population the Pope in 192/ divided the is-
land into two dioceses, the Ponce diocese comprising the south-western
part of the island and the S&n Juan diocese comprising the northeastern

part, including the adjacent islands of Vieques and Culebra; also the
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Virgin Islands. The twe ‘dicceses are directly subject to the Pope
through an Apostolic Delegate who resides in Havana, Cuba.

During the Spanish regime not mcre than two native priests were
elected bishop3. Ever since the American occupation all bishops have
been continental Americans appointed by the Pope. Serving the islands
are more than two hundred and fifty Roman clergy, half of which are se-
cular. There are severzl orders of nuns. The Carmelite Sisters with
a convent in Santurce is the oldest native order, founded in 1646.

There is not a single town in Puerto Rico where there is not a Homan —

Church. There are also quite a number of chapels in the rural areas.

Since the change of sovereignty in 1898 tha principal religious sects or

denominations in the United Stntes have come to P.R. The first non-Roman

Church in P, R. was established in Pﬂnce as early as 1873, nccurding to

l the records nf Holy Trinity churc:h on chr. zu 1359 a group crf men [m:m-

I Romans) met in Ponce to consider the organization of a parish, availing

themselves of the decree of the new constitutional gnmrnment of Spain
which granted religious liberty to her colonies. In 1872 the parish was
organized under the Bishop of Antigua (Anglican Diocese in the West In-
dies). A portable church of wood and iron construction was shipped 'lg‘
out in sections from England and erected on a site at that time outside J

the city limits and in 1873 the church was opened for divine services.

'

The Hev. John DuBois from St. Paul's Church in Frederiksted, St. Groix,'
V. I. came to Puerto Rico to organize the parish and served as its rec-s
tor (interim). The first rector was the Rev. A. Giolma who served the

parish for two years. The Rev. F. ‘Iallppinosa of Spanish origin, edu-%

eight years having established the first parochial school in Ponce. j‘ ]
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cated in England, came as the second rector and served the parish ﬂﬂﬁ ﬂ
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During h:Ls ministry services were held @n the Spanish hnguag and.rnﬁ"
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“:ﬁﬁ‘:regima. The Church was consecrated in the summer of 1874 by the Lord

Bishop of Antigua, William Waldron Jackson, in honor of the Holy and
Ever Blessed Trinity. The last English rector was the Rev. Fred Caunt.
It is also recorded that at the re-establishment of the monarchy in 1874
the Church was ordered to be closed but with the good offices of the
English Queen Victoria the Church was re-opened, but ringing of bells
was prohibited as well as the opening of the front door. Entrance was
by the side doors. MNo religious symbol or notice on the building was
allowed to show that it was a church. The visits of the Bishop of An-
tigua were made at long intervals at which time he held confirmations.
These visits on some oceasions were made in disguise (incognito),- it
depended on who was the mayor of the town, whether a staunch Roman Cath-
%1if1_:lﬂor a léggra%nmlndedbone- On a E‘.{'}a ?gjs_ﬂd. and Eng lggd th:hr- Vall—e
E% aﬁoweéane;@f Eﬁﬁ glgmj?hgn gr%gdcf'ﬂﬁcgl 1“3y y%éﬁﬁngﬁnréﬁ e%bgf' f‘

St. Andrew's Brotherhocd found the Church, opened it, cleaned it out and
the old colored sexton and lay reader, Alexander Horton, rang the bell
for services. There was no rector at the time. In August, 1898 a memor-
ial service was held for soldiers who had fallen during the American in-
vasion. The Rev. A. Southerland, Chaplain of the 19th Regiment, held the
service. He continued holding services until January, 1899. On Christ-
mas Day 1898 the Holy Communion was celebrated by Chaplain Southerland,
assisted by the Rev. F. VallSpinosa, second rector of the parish, retired,
who was visiting Ponce at the time. Soon after the American|ynyasion |
the jurisdiction of the Church of England was transferred t.o_t;l-_e :merica‘ﬂ
Episcopal Church and the parish was placed under the Presiding Bishop.

On Feb. 28, 1899, Ash Wednesday, Bishop Whipple of Minnesota visited
the Church. In 1901 Bishop Peterkin of West Virginia visited the parish
and administered the Sacrament of Confirmation.

The first American rector was the Rev. S. E. Gunn, appointed in 1902,
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who served for a short time, followed by the Rev. H. B. Thomas who served
until 1903. Father William Watson followed him and served until 1906.
Under the influence of Father Watson the parish made great progress.

From there on the parish was constantly served by continental American
priests until 1932 when the first Puertorrican priest was placed in charge
of the mission which had ceased to be a parish a few years after the change
of regime. The old building was condemned and torn down in 1923 and the
present beeutifut church of reinfafced concrete in the Spanish style was
erected on the site and consecrated in 1926. The bell, which was cast in
England in 1872 and transferred to a chapel at Clausells, Ponce when the
new Trinity Church was built in 1926 was again brought in 1939 by the
priest in charge at the time and enshrined at the Church as a symbol of

religious liberty and is now called the Puerto Rican liherty%ﬁziigggh Today

there is a flourishing Spanish speaking congregation but services in Eng-
lish have continued to be held at the trayditional hour of 11:;00 A.M.

every Sunday, at Christmas and Easter Day.

As mentioned gbove, in 1899 the Bishop of Minnesota visited Puerto Rico.

This visit was made at the request of the Pishop of Chicago who had been
appointed to take clarge of the work of the “hurch on the island. In his
visits to the principal towns Bishop Whipple found everywhere a warm wel-
come. His first service was held in San Juan where the Rev. Henry A.
Brown, chaplain of the army in S5an Juan had gathered the beginnings of a
promising congregation. A class of twelve persons was presented for con-
Craplain Brown
firmation. Later on ke was transferred t o Mayaguez. At Magguez, through
the kindness of army officers, the local theater was obtained for the
Bishop's visit and an evening service was held at which not less than
two hundred and fifty were present. In a private house at the town of
Arroyo, near Guayama, the Bishop held:servicé with a good congregation,
while a Spanish gentleman furnished the music. At Cayey the Bishop was
the guest of the commanding officer and held a nevebetombe-fowmobben ser-

vice at the barracks. Besides the English speaking residents a few Puerto-
—
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rrieans snd over & hundred Eslﬂi;rg w;ra Present. This was the first
service held during the yesr $he troops had oceupied the town.

Concerning the future of the lslsnd Bishop Whipple wrote: - For gll
the sin, sorrow snd igmorsnce of Puerto Rico there ia but one remedy-
the gospel of Jesus Christ., It will do for these poor souls whet 1t hss
done for the people of every race and clim=te. There is no room for dis-
couragement if the work is entered upon with faith, end hope and in the
strength which comes from God."

The following yesr the Presiding Bishop sppointed Bishop Bterkin of
West Virginie in cherge of the work. He g&rrived in Sen Jusn, Jen.le,1901.
During the two mémths thz=t he remsined on the Island he held nineteen
services, confirmed 12 persous in Ponce, one in the temporsry chepel in
Sen Jusn &nd six in Viegues Island. Vieques is sbout nine miles of the
coast esst of Puerto Rlico, geologieslly is e prolongstion of the msin
l=nd of Puerto Rico, with grares of firty-seven sgusre miles. The prineipal
town is "Isabel Segunde" named after one of Spein's most famgous queenj.

According $o Miller's History of Tusrto Rico, the Spenish government
gsbout the year 1870 granted permission %o oren & school for non-Romsn Ca-
tholic children in Vieques, who would be tsught in their own lspngusge which
weg Euglish, snd €lso permitting the teaching of their own protestant(An-
glicen) religion, This is the first esse of religious tolersnce in Puerto
Rico =snd perh=ps in the Spsnish domsins,
One Zzccheus Anderson, & carpenter from the Islend of St. Croix, czme

to Viegques sbout the yezr 1868 &nd personslly condueted ehurch services
to the grest comfort of the meny English lsborers resident there. He wes
Tollowed by John Je=mes Haneloek, s netive of Tortols, who continued the
good work =nd opened & school s=bout the year 1870.

The Rev., Fr. Semper, came from Tortols in Mey =nd sgsin in pctober
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1881 to celebrete the Holy Communion and to sdministe® the ssorsments of
beptism and merrisgex. He csme sgein in 1883 to beptizel s child of
Mr. Joseph Natheniel Bean, who had oome from on of the Isisnds to live
in Vieques. Mr/ Besn wes s revenue officer of the British folonisl govern-
ment there. He hed hesrd of the need of someone to carry on the wWork st
Viegues, snd geve up his position sud came to the =Islsnd in 1881,

Archdescon Hutson, Bector of All Ssints' Chureh, St. Thomes, V.I.,
visited Vieques in 1885,

Mr. Besn went to the United Stetes srd entered St.Augustine's College,
Raleigh, N.C. in 1889 to study for the ministry. Ye was ordeined descon by
Bishop Lyman in 1890 end priest by the Bishop of Antigus in 1893, return-
}ng to Vieques as priest in charze of A1l SBeints!' Churech, =t Isabel ﬁeguﬂda.

In 1893, Bishop Brench, of Antigus, viesited the geland of Tieques,
end hed counfirmstion. It seems thet there wes no restriction to these
visits, for it is also mentioned thet in 1881, the Hon. C.A. Brewer, Tres-
surer and Warden of all Saints, St, Thomss, visited the Tslend of Viegues
in order to check on the permit granted to the Chureh to hold services,is-
sued by the Governor of Fuerto Rico.

For meny yesre the people worshiped in = plain wooden strueture which
had been 8 sugsr werchouse, renovetsd in 2903 end grestly improved. Up to
the tire of the Americen occupe tion the church had been & mission of the
Church of England end this, with Holy Trinity Church in Ponce, were the
only two non-Homan Churehe& in Tuerto Rico snd rerhabs in 811 the Spanikh
Americen domsins. The Rev,Fr. Besn becsme totelly blind sbout the yesr
1897, but aontiuuadaxarciaiﬂg his ministry until 1905 when he resigned his
post. Feé died in Vieyues on July 15, 1907.



When CHplein Brown was tran&ferred to Meysguez, the Rev. feerge B

Prett wes sent to Puerto Rico as & missionmery om April 11, 1899. Fe
held the first service ss sn wgsnized mission under the neme of St.Tohn
the Baptist Chureh on lMareh 12, 1899 st the "Ateneo Tuertorriguefion
building in Ssn Jusn. Fether Prett resturned to the Stetes in Ootober
190C =pd Chsplsin Brown retumed from lMeyszuez end took eherre of the
coungrsgation, holding serviees rogulsrly. He hed to move fromthe "Atensq
to Forteleze St. No.5, & government building Xnown &s the "pPink Pulsce,
Chsplsin Brown returned $o the Tnithed States in Februsrt 1901.

The Rev. James H. Ven Buren was &ppointed missicne ry & week sfter
Cheplein Brown had left the Islsnd. On Deccmber 24, 1901 the mission of
‘St John the Baptish wse organized ss & Perich snd Fr, Ven Buren wes
elected its first Rector.

The Genersl Convention of 1901 elscted the Rev. Williem C. Brown,

& missionery in Brazil, o be the Bishop of Puerto Rico, but he wes nd
able %o eccept. At this ssme Gonventibm ruerto Rico was mede & missionaxy
district.

A ysar affer Father Van Buren wse appointed & missionsry, he wes
elected Bishop of Puerto Rico end consecrstsd on Junme 24, 1902. In De-
cember the then FR.Van Buren had written: We must begin our work, in my
Judgement, among children. We can teseh religion in our parish schools

end by beginning in this wey, we shall win the hesrts of the people as h no
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'éther1hay. . We have begun a school in Szn Juan, we bring our children to
the Church every Sunday afternoon and have a service based on the order

of Evening Prayer in Spanish. The grown pebple come too, they all want a
lesson in English and in getting it we take care that they get the gospel
also. Our mode of worship, our apestolic origin, our ghristian year, our
creed all appeal strongly to the people.™

Under Spain the Roman Catholie Church was established as a part of
the government. Under the United States Constitution that Church could
not have; any official connection and many of the Spanish priests left the
island. yominally the entire population of Puerto Rico was Roman Catholic
but there weré“thousands of sould that had no religion whatsocever. Among
the lower and poor classes the vast majority were living in superstition
and practical heathenism.

In February 1902 a parish school was started in San Juan at anetade
San Juan, No. 9 with Miss Frances Cuddy in charge as principal. At this
same time it became necessary for the government to use the room at the
Pink Palace and the congregation had to move again to rooms in the old’
Colonial Hotel on the corner of Sazn Franeisco and Cristo Streets.

On Dec. 26, 1903 Bishop VanBuren laid the corner stone for the Church
of St. John the Baptist at the Caleta de San Juan,opposite the Roman Cath-
olic Cathedral and on March 12, 1904 the first service was conducted by
Bishop VanBuren. The land cost $12,000. and the building $16,000. Bishop
VanBuren continued as rector until Nov. 24, 1904 when the Rev. Walter
Mitchell came to Fuerto Hico as second rector of the parish.

From very early days there were in Szn Juan many colored English speak-
ing people who had migrated to Puerto Rico from the islands of the British
West Indies. A number of them had been trained in the Church of England
in those islands. These, together with a few Puertorricans, worshipped or-
iginally with the American c ontinentals at S5t. John the Baptist. In 1901

it was reported that about one-fifth of the congregation was coclored and
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cne-fifth Puertcpgicans.

In February 1903 separate services were begun for these groups by
Bishop VanBuren, the Rev. David W. Bland assisting, in a rented house on
what is now Lugo Vifa Street in Puerta de Tierra. The house was altered
inside so that it served very creditably for a chapel. A day school was
also started for the Puertagiican children of the neighborhood.

In 1907 a large lot was bought and a wooden two story building er-
ected at Stop 7, Buerta de Tierra. Two congregations used the building,
one composed of native Puertorricans and the other of English speaking

gngg?;El;::tfizgizzﬁkmlﬂredl A day school was opened in the basement of the
church which served a]_.sn as a parish hall. By this time the Rev. Charles
E. Snavely had taken charge of St. Luke's, which was the name given to the
-migsion, and lived in a small house across the street from the church.

In 1907 S5t. Luke's had several missions - St. Mark's in Puerta de
Tierra (another section of town), in Aguas Buenas, eastern section of
the island, there were four missions, the Advent, St. Margaret, the In-
carnation and the Ascension, all attended by Mr. José Archilla, lay
reader; the Good Shepherd at the Leper Colony on Cabras Island, St.
Peter's at Palo Seco, St. Paul's at Cerra St., Santurce and Annunciation
at Loiza St., Santurce. In 1907 there were five licensed lay readers:
Messrs. C. C. Nairn and Paul Reinhardt at St. John the Baptist, San Juan,
Gerhardt Monefeldt at Mayaguez (St. Andrew's], Ernesto Rivera and Enri-
que Cuervos at St. Luke's, Puerta de Tierra and José Archilla at Aguas
Buenas. There were also fiwve continental American priests in charge of
the following parishes and missions: The Rev. F. A. Warden, rector of
St. John's in San Juan and also priest in charge of St. James at Baya-
mén (Candelaria), - this mission was attended by continental Americans,
fruit growers of that community, - Father Warden was also chaplain at the |
Naval Station in Puerta de Tierra; the Rev. C. E. Snavely, priest in

charge of St. Luke's, Puerta de Tierra and all the mission stations, as-
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sisted by his lay readers; the Rev. C. D. Bland, priest in charge of St.
Andrew's, Mayaguez; the Rev. H. P. Walter, Holy Trinity, Ponce and the
Rev. John F. Droste, deacon, chaplain at St. Luke's Hospital, Ponce and
the Rev. Lecnard Read, deacon in charge of All Saints, Vieques. There
was & preaching mission at La Esperanza in Vieques, attended also by Mr.
Head, which was named after St. Clement.

The mission of St. Paul's in Santurce was opened by Father Snavely

because a great number of the ':liridgi:h West colored people were living
n

in this section and this new mission therefore met a great need. So pro-
mising was this work that in 1920 plans were laid for a chapel to be

bullt across the way from the house, but owing to the fact that there were
not sufficient clergymen to continue the work,it was closed and people
-were asked to attend St. Luke's in Puerta de Tierra. Although some of
the work was conducted in Spanish for the Puertorricans, the main work

was among the English colored people living in that neighborhood.

To follow the chronological order of events we will mention now the
Mayaguesz missiagﬁvr.;hich, as we said before, the foundations were laid by
Chaplain Henry A. Brown. It was not until March lst, 1905 that the mis-
sion was really organized under the Rev. David W. Bland. The first ser-
vices were in English in a private house. In April an old coffee ware-
house was rented in a thickly populated "barrio" (ward) at the southern
end of the town. This was fitted up for church purposes. On May 21,
1905 the first service of Holy Communion was celebrated. Only four |
communicants, all Americans, attended, but at the door were some few
Puertorricans. Services in Spanish began the following week with a con-
gregation of about one hundred and fifty, amd in January 1907 a class of
fourteen was confirmed. A Sunday School with an enrollment of one hun-
dred and sixty-seven children gathered every Sunday with an average at-

tendance of one hundred and forty-four children. In February a house
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rwﬁs rented -near the church and 2 native teacher by the name of Matilde
Martinez was employed and a day school was started with fifty-two child-
ren enrolled. This same building was used in the evenings for lectures
and social gatherings. The parochial report from St. Andrew's for the
year 1905 reported.nne hundred and seventy-four individuals, one hundred
and sixty-nine baptized persons, nineteen communicants, twenty-four bap-
tisms, fourteen confirmations, eleven marriages and Sunday School teachers
eight. For several years, up to the time of the arrival of the Rev. F. A.
Saylor, the moving spirit of the mission was that of Miss E. H. MeCollough,
well remembered by quite a few of the Mayaguez people. ©8he was a teacher,
counsellor and friend to all. In 1916 the building used as a church,
which was about one hundred years old, was ordered closed and in 1918 a
-new one was put up.

In Bishop Van Buren's address to his first convocation, May 9, 1905,
he begins by saying: "Today marks an era of progrees in our work. We are
assembled in convocation for the first time to perfect the organization
of our forces." Later on he reports the purchase of land and the build-
ing of St. John's Church in San Juan and gives a list of parish organiza-
tions and missions at which services were held, following the order of
their ages:

Holy Trinity Church, Ponce - Father Watson, rector

All Saints, Vieques - Father Bean, priest in charge

St. John the Baptist, San Juan - Father Mitchell, rector

St. Luke's, Puerta de Tierra - Father Mitchell, priest in charge

St. Peter's Mission, Playa Ponce - Father Watson in charge
Rev. L. Head, deacon

St. Thomas Mission, West End, Ponce
(probably Barrio Canas or near
the hospital) - Father Watson and Mr. Read

Epiphany, Central Aguirre - Father Watson and Mr., Nelson
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St. Mary's Mission, La Carmelita, Ponce - Father Watson and
Mr. Cabrera

Hope Mission - La Esperanza - Fonce - Father Watson and Miss
Fordham teaching assistant

St. Andrew's, Mavaguesz - Pather David W. Bland,
priest in charge

He also mentioned three flourishing mission or parish schools, - St. John's
in San Juan with Miss Anna M. Heed as teacher and Miss Dolores Quifiores,
assistant, and an enrollment of seventy-five children; Holy Trinity, Ponce
with Miss Frances Cuddy as teacher amd Miss Sarah Davidson as parish help-
er, and fifty children enrolled; La Esperanza, Ponce with Miss Fordham as
teacher and thirty children enrolled. A night school for adults was held
the past winter with some twenty-five pupils. Bishop VanBuren also men-
tions the offer of four acres of land in barrio Candelaria, seven miles
west of Bayamén on road No. 2, on condition:that a church building be
put up within one year. At Pueblo Viejo near Catafio a similar offer was
made to him., At Aguas Buemas land was offered and a promise of fifty
dollars toward erection of a church. At "El Semil" up in the mountains
near Juana Diaz an urgent request was made for church ministrations and
at Hormigueros Father Bland was thinking of establishing the Church.

The work which seemed to him ﬁast conspicucus was the erection of a
church hospfital in Ponce. Father Watson had had trouble visiting kis
his parishioners at the Homan Catholic hospital "Santo Asilo de Damas'.
The Sisters did not sllow him to minister freely to the sick members of
his parish and tried to persuade them to leave the Anglican Church and
Jjoin their church. In a few instances they did persuade them. A very
serious incident between Father Watson and a Sister forced him to discuss
the matter with Holy Trinity vestry and they in turh with the Bishop. 3o,
in his convocation report, he mentions the purchase of four acres of land
on the outskirtg of Ponce, on a high and well-adapted section, for the

purpose of erecting the Memorial Hospital of St. Luke, the Beloved Physi-
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biaﬁ: in memory of Dr. Charles Henry Thomas who had been a room-mateof
Bishop VanBuren at Yale College, and in his senior year when he fell sick
with typhoid fever, MMr. Thomas ministered to him and took care of him
until he regained his heddth. A committee was formed, composed of the
Bishop, the rector of Holy Trinity, Dr. Carl Vogel, a local physician,
and two wardens of the parish. These were to serve as‘the local Board
of Trustees. lUnder the provision of the General Canons, Bishop VanBuren,
when he became the Bishop of Puerto Rico, selected the Constitution and
Canons of the Diocese of West Virginia to be the law of the district. A
new draft of a constitution and canons was prepared by him and presented
to the first convocation held at St. John the Baptist Church in San Juan,
May 9, 1905, which were finally approved by the House of Bishops at Con-
vention held in Richmond, Va. in 1907. At this convocation Bishop Van-
Buren recommended the reading of our church papers, such as the Spirit
of Missions, The Living Church, The Southern Churchman and The Church-
man and that every worker and family in the church subscribe to any one
of them so that they be informed of the progress and affairs of the
Kingdom of Geod.

At the 1906 convocation the Bishop mentioned the fact of the two
versions of the Pible in common use in Spanish countries - "Ciprianc de
Valero" and Version Moderna (used by non-Romans), considering the for-
mer as superior but the latter a more accurate translation but the
language less dignified. He also expressed the unfortunate fact that
the Book of Chants and Canticles he had,did not conform to the version
of the Prayer Book they were using at the time. The Bishop also re-
ported the preparation by himself of z Hymnal with two hundred hymns,
but due to lack of funds the same was not printed as yet.

At this convocation 1906, lrs. Walter Mitchell, as acting secretary of
the Woman's Auxilisry in Puerto Rico, reported that there were two

branches, one organized at St. Luke's, Puerte de Tierra the first Sun-
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day in August 1995 with fourteen members, and a junior branch organized
in the same church in May of the current year with eleven members. The
Ponce branch was reported discontinued.

At the previous convocation Mrs. VanBuren, in her report to convo-
cation, stated that she was appointed by the Bishop in October 1903 at
the request of the General Secretary of the Womans Auxiliary to the
Board of Missions. That on March 22, 1904 the parochisl branch of the
Church of S5t. John the Baptist in San Juan was organized with fourteen
members and that on Jan. 29, 1905 the parochial branch of Holy Trinity,
Ponce was organized with twenty-five members. Mrsg. VanBuren reported
that at the meeting of the Woman's Auxiliary in Boston on Oct. 4, 1904
there was much applause when it was announced that Puerto Rico was éepre-
dented by a delegate. She had taken with her samples of the drawn work
made by the parish Needlework Guild of Ponce, some of it was sold and
orders were received for more. At the time of the United Thank Offering
Mrs. VanBuren placed in the Alms Basin $17.80, the amount from the Puerto-
rrican branches in the blue boxes.

At the 1907 convocation the Bishop reported the publication of the
Spanish Hymnal with 203 hymns, mostly taken from the book published by
the American Tract Society, but with the best tunes in use by the Church.
The amens were added to thy hymns and all the chants pointed for singing
and set to music. The hymns were also arranged in the order of the chris-
tian year after the mamer of our American Hymnal.

Work at La Carmelita in Ponce was suspended because there was no one
who could be appointed there who could minister in the Spanish language.
The Church was holding several acres of land there on a ninety-nine year
lease.

The building of St. Luke's Hospital at a cost of $17,000. was com-
pleted with funds contributed by friends in the States and in Puerto Rico.

An appropriation of §1,000. a year for its support was approved by the
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foard’of Missions and a pledge of $1,200. annually by a lady was made
during her lifetime; also provision in her will for a legacy of £50,000.,
the income to be used for the maintenance of the hospital after her
death. At this ‘convocation the Bishop reported the admission on Aug. 28
of the first Puertc Rican candidate for Holy Orders, Mr. Ernesto Rivera. k'\(,
He studied at Sewanee, Temn. and was ordained deacon in June 1912. He f

died the following year.

At the convocation held in Mayaguez May 9,1911 Bishop Van Buren informed about the
establishment of new management at St. Lukes Hospital in accordance with the usages

and regquirements of the Board of Missions. He also spoXe of the critical condition

of the church due to lack of a 5uff:i.cir.:;nt. supply of clérgy'. Only ﬁa
;:riest.s (continentals) were helping the Bishop, one in San Juan, the other
in Vieques. Only three native lay readers were assisting in the work, ome
in Aguas Buenas, one in Mayaguez and one in Santurce - 5t. Paul!s. There
were two tegchers in San Juan, one continental, one Puer‘to!&iﬂan. There
were six in Mayaguez, two continentals and four Puertomficans, and three

teachers in Puarta de Tierra, one continental one West Indian and one

Puertorrican. _ B:L_shop VanBuren complained that there was no response to

the call for volunteers in the States to come to Puerto Rico and help in

a-"".

the work. Climatic and other conditions were very trying, specially to

women bo and brought "p in Ehé%_na h., It --is'v'Er::,rh important to know

that aften almost eleven ai'tfhar:,r work done by the Church and

s of
ten of agostolic ministry :::Rﬁlshap anEuren the Church had hardly pro-
. E?ang'elle,al churches. The Church could
have advancet Beci # |he Bishop had had t.hexq\cperation and backing
. "_t at thex..ﬁ'eg__ﬂr_}_‘_ing it was for

him a great struggle and causeg him great anxiety due to the lack of funds

\
and interest on the part of the&‘-ﬂhureh in the United States. In those
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aa&EﬁiPﬂ#&%&iﬂg“ﬁaﬁ'ﬁiffiﬂﬁit—aﬂﬂ‘tiTﬁgﬁﬁE. The apostolic zezsl and fervor
of the first missionaries justified the rapid extension of the work but
in the course.of the following years the Bishop found himself with a num-

ber of parishes, missions and preaching stations and hardly any personnel
L

"o take care of them due to 1ack of resources and cooperation from the Department

of Missions address to convocation the Bishop was forced to say: "We are still
suffering from lack of a sufficient supply of clergy to hold the places

already occupied. Looking at the humble position we occupy in the list
of dioceses and missionary districts, locking at the small numbers we are
able to present in the table of church statistics, the question is some-
times asked, "What is the matter with Puerto Rico?" I am tempted to re-
ply, "What is the matter with the Church at home ---?" "You have a right
to expect of Puerto Ricc just in accordance with what you put into Puerto
Rico =--." T have undertaken to supply services on successive Sundays at
several places, - Ponce (vacant for ten months), Mayaguez, Guanica and

Apuirre, besides the visitations and other duties which belong to a Bishop.

'A house-going parson maketh a church-going people!, and the pastoral re-
lation, the seeking after the lost and the straying, that is what tells in
the upbuilding of the Church.”

Towards the end of this year (1911) Bishop VanBuren was forced to re-
gign on account of ill health and the work was placed under the care of

Bishop Knight of Cuba who locked after it for a year and a half. In 1913

Bishop Knight appointed the Rev. Rowland S. Nichols as Archdeacon of Puerto
Rico, who alsc took charge of St. John's Church. The next summer he was
obliged to return to the States. '

On Dec. 17, 1913 the Very Rev. Charles B. Eclmﬂr%, then Dean of the
Cathedral in Havana, Cuba, was consecrated Bishop of Puertoe Rico and ar-
rived in San Juan on January, 191k to take up his work. At his first

convocation held in San Juan, June 17 and 18, 1914, there were one contin-
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ental American priest, three West Indians, one~ecissss—smri—tyr—drite,

one deacon, seven lay readers and three continental Americans-one West Indian and

three Puertoricans, Enrique Cuevas, Jos& Flores and Esteban Reus Garcfa, who were

responsible for the work at St. John the Baptist, and’%ine other missions besides

Guanica and Central Aguirre sugar factories. In 1811, Transfiquration at Fajardo

(eastern part of the island) was received as an organized mission. It was attended by

the Rev .W.E. Hendricks whowas also in charge of All Saints, Vieques. Father Hendricks

|'

established a day school wholly on his own pei‘sﬁnal resources but was

forced to give it up after ten months due to lack of funis to continue
the work. His greatest stumbling block in the way of progress was the

-lack of a suitable church building.

The Church of the REsurrection in Manatf was begun on April 20, 1913 by the

Rev. John F, Droste, a deacon, who had been ordained by Bishop VanBuren
in May 1907 in Ponce, and was chaplain of St. Luke's Hospital while Mrs.

Droste, his wife, served as the first head nurse and director of the school

i

of nurses. Two years after lMrs. Droste resigned as head nurse of St.
Luke's and Mr. Droste as chaplain of the hospital.ﬂli?ﬂoved to E1 Coto

de Manati where they bought a piece of land and dedicated themselves to
the goowing of pineapples. At the same time they began holding church-
school in the packing shed with an attendance of about twenty-five child-
ren and adults. On Afril 16, 1914 Bishop Colmore layed the corner stone
for a stone chapel which lMrs. Droste built and turned over to the Church
in Puerto Rico. She raised the money by saving money that she made tak-
ing care of sick Americans of the community and other funds raised through
friends in the States. On Jan. Eg_:i:he Rev. Mr. Droste was advanced to

the priesthood and lMr. Enrique Cuervos made deacon at S5t. John's Church

in San Juan.
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= 1S The vital statistics for the year were as follows: 993 baptized
persons, 486 communicants, 28 church school teachers and 602 pupils.
There were four day schools as follows: Ponce, Mayaguez, San Juan and
Puerta de Tierra, with eight teachers, four of whom were contintal Amer-
icans, three Puertorricans and one West Indian, with an enrollment of 135
pupils. .

The following year the amount of £2,817.92 was reported as receipts
for the year 191k, with a total payment of $351.11 towards general church
work.

During the first years of his episcopate Bishop Colmore made all the
efforts to recruit clergymen for the work on the island and to strengthen
the work, ss=he—fomrd—i+—3m393,. So by the year 1919 there were already
seven clergymen (all English speaking), one deacon (English speaking),
eight lay readers and four Puertniiican postulants. The—ZFuerborricam dea-
conerdgined I daruary,;, I9S Mo resienedand—mae—to—tho-—3iates. There
were also seven women workers, four of whom were English spesking. In his

annual address to convocation, May 20, 1919 Bishop Colmore mentioned the

fact of having received notification from the Presiding Bishop that the

B
i Bishop of Antigua (Anglican) had resigned his jurisdigtion over the Church
¥n the Virgin Islands of the U.S. and that the work of the Church in the Virgin Islands

Was to be placed, in the following future, under h:l‘.u jurisdiction. The Buhqp had

E already visited the three parishes on the V viggggs Islands and found a total of

g about nine thousand Church people and nearly nineteen hundred communicants

= and twelve hundred church school children. .+ The Bishop of Puerto Rico
“was also at the time in charge of the Missionary District of Haiti so he made
the statement at this convoecation that he was considering the advisability
of suggesting to the House of Bishops that the Virgin Islands and the Do-
minican Republic be included in the District of Puerto Rico and Haiti be
comnected with some other district. This of course meant much travelling

for the Bishop which was done mainly by boat. Therefore convocation passed
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a resolution to request the House of Bishops to include the Virgin Islands
and Sznto Domingo in the Missionary District of Puerto Rico. The Bishop
also reported in his annual address that Miss Ellen T. Hicks had come to
Puerto Rico in March 1918, expecting to £ill the vacancy at 5t. Luke's
Hospital in Ponce for three months and that she was still there. During
her stay the hospital had passed through the trying experience of the
earthquake and the consequent repair work. Miss Hicks, who had beenat
St. Luke's Hospital, Manila, Philippine Islands, was in the United States
recovering from a breakdown and agreed to come to Puerto Rico for a change
and to help St. Luke's while on her furlough, but she learned to love the
work in Ponce and decided to stay longer. She re-corganized the school of
nursing and remained in Pyerto Rico until her retirement after thirty years
of faithful and efficient service to the Church. The new building, forced
to be built due to the 1928 cyclone, is a credit to her and to Bishop Col-
mMoTe.

It is very important to notice that at this convocation the Bishop
made the following statement:in his address: "With St. Luke's Hospital
Training School (nurses), the Industrial Department of S5St. Andrew's and
the New World School, E1l Coto-Manati, I feel we are making a beginning
in the most necessary effort to teach the lesson of self-support. I be-
lieve that the most important practical training that we can give is that
of industry and hope that we can make all our educational work tend in
that direction ...... But apart from the industrial training there is
the all-important work of training the future leaders of the Church's
work in Puerto Rico. I hope there will be no obstacle in the establish-
ment of our postulants' training school at Rio Piedras this year. I
feel that this is the most important plan we have and that the permanency
of our work in ‘the future depends upon its success.”

The Industrial Department at St. Andrew's, lMayaguez, developed into
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.-the S“t-. Andrew's Craft Shop which is now a diocesan institution giving
work to a great number of women of the church. 7The New World School
was a kind of industrial school for boys which struggled for lack of
funds and finally had to be closed after the 1928 cyclone when all the
buildings were blown away.

The Nation-wide campaign which was originated in the Board of Mis-
sions in 1919 and endorsed with great enthusiasm by the General Conven-
tion of that year was very successful in Puerto Rico and a pledge of
$793.00 a year for the next three years was made at the 1919 convocation.

At the General Convention mentioned above the House of DBishops en=-
larged the jurisdiction of our missionary district by attaching to it
the ecclesiastical territory of the Virgin Islands of the United States,
and at the annual convocation held in San Juan April 13 and 14, 1920 the
clergy of the Virgin Islands were present and a resolution was passed
welcoming to membership in our convocation the parishes of the Virgin
Islands. Qur next convocation was held in the Virgin Islamls May 25
and 26 and we were the guests of the parish of St. John, Christiansted,
St. Croix, - the Hev, H. M. Pigott, rector. It was a very happy event.

The Bishop, clergy 1-&'11"&"15?'&&1@1&5- from Puerto Rico left Fajardo early

LﬁL1in the morning in a _ Boat ,.arriving at Frederiksted, St. Croix

pia> in the late aftemciﬁn-.- Three of-the 'four Fuertorrican postulants attended
T as lay delegates. At this convocation the Bishop reported a shortageof
clergy in the District of Puerto Rico and the necessity to give up, tem-
porarily, the mission of 8t. Paul's in Santurce and to concentrate efforts
on St. Luke's, Puerta de Tierra and Annunciation, Loiza Road, Santurce.
St. Luke's had no priest in charge at the time. Owing to the many va-
cancies existing the work at the seminary had to be postponed also. The
Bishop mentioned the fact of the need of a priest in the .district to be
able to act as executive secretary, taking off his shoulders certain de- '

tails of business, and who might also serve as an extra priest to fill
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in vacancies as necessity might require. The Bishop's frequent and e x-
tended absences, visiting the Virgin Islands and Santo Domingo made this
almost an imperative need.

About this time the "Iglesia Uiviente";¥our diocesan paper, began to
be published under the direction of Father Camille Estornelle, but at his
resignation the Rev. Father Haughwout took charge of its publication.

The paper was mainly a means of publishing church school lessons in Span-
ish. The emphasis was made of the need of more church literature in Span-
ish. Father Haughwout who had been in Mexico was greatly interested in
this aspect of our work. He had written a bock in English, "Ways and
Teachings of the Church" and had in preparation a book in Spanish en-
titled "Aspectos Fundamentales de la Religion Cristiana®; also a revi-
sion and enlargement of our Spanish hymnal.

The year before extending the missionary jurisdiction of Puerto Rico
the Church in Puerto Rico had 1330 baptized persons, 657 communicants,
€55 church school children with 37 teachers, and four day schools with an
enrollment  of 328 pupils and 11 teachers. These schools were located at
3t. Andrew‘é lMission, Mayaguez, at Annunciation, Loiza Road, Santurce, at
St. Luke's, Puertade Tierra and were for Puerto Rican children. 35t. John's
School which had been moved from San Juan was now in the Condade and mainly
attended by continental American children and Puerto Rican children of the
better class residing in Santurce. Bishop Colmore had bought a property
on a street opposite the Presbyterian Hospital, This school became partly e
self-supporting. $<;ﬁgﬁ

The new rectory at El1 Coto, “‘anati was finished late in 1921 and the
devoted missionaries who had lived and worked there under unfavorable con-
ditions for many years now had a beautiful bungalow built with funds raised
by the Rev. H. F. Walter who had been in Puerto Rico on two occasions; -

~in 1906 as rector of Holy Trinity, Ponce and in 1916 in charge of St. Luke's,

'

' Puerta de.Tierra.

ITtoTA DEL EDITOR: FEsta publicacibn incluye copia a%.- 1a lera. edinimﬁi
Iglesia Viviente.

e ———



'* o e

. Gn April 17, 1923 for the. first time convocation met as guewt of a
a rural mission, the Heaurrgcticn, El Coto, Manati. At this convocation
we had a visit from the Rev. A. B. Parson, Assistant Secretary for For-
eign Missions of the National Council, and [lirs. Parson. In his annual
address the Bishop made the following statement: "For the past nine years
and prcbably longer it has been a constant source of worry and difficulty
to keep our several missions equipped with the necessary personnel in
clergy and other workers. The frequent changes and resulting periods of
vacancy have been a serious obstacle to the continuity and resulting suc-
cess of the work. ..... Father Haughwout, after eight years' work in
Ponce, having built up a good Puerta}%iean congregation, has consented to
move to St. Luke's, Fuerta de Tierra, for the double purpose of minister-
ing to the Spanish 5peakiné congregation and taking the responsibility of
having our candidates for the ministry." At this time there were two can-
didates for Holy Orders, Messrs. Antonio and Aristides Villafafie, and one
postulant, Mr. Esteban Reus-Garcia who was working for the government.
Bishop Colmore expressed his great satisfaction with the progress made by
the two candidates for the priesthood and praised very highly the work
done with them by the Rew. Fathers Haughwout and Pugh. It was the hope
of the Bishop that with the accession to the clergy staff of these two
candidates the dependence upon the importation of clergy from the United
States would be greatly reduced.

Bishop Manuel Ferrandc of the Church of Jesus in Puerto Rico (Quebrada
Limén and other rural sections of Ponce) was present and greeted by convo-
cation. Bishop Ferrando had received supplemental consecration at the
hands of six American Bishops. By this act and Bishop Ferrgndo's subse-
quent acts in Puerto Rico the entire Church of Jesus (five missions with
two hundred and fifty acres of land, four clergy and several parish work-

ers) was brought into full communion with the Episcopal Church.

__NOTE: For Specific information, see Ferrando's documents.
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Miss Ethel M. Robinson of Teachers' College, New York had come to
Puerto Rico to make a survey and advise the Bishop in regard to education-
al work. It was the idea to organize all school work in such a way as to

systematize it and have cooperation between the several missions. There
was already in Ponce, connected with Holy Trinity, St. Eliszabeth's House
for training of young women for parish workers. Mrs. Juliet Darracott
and Miss Mariana Cordero were in charge. At this time Bishop Colmore men-
tioned the completion of the lMayaguez buildings (rectory and school rooms)
and that the municipal authorities had pronounced the old building in use
for church services as unsafe. Serviceswere then held in the basement of
the new rectory.

The year 1923 marked the tenth anniversary of the consecration of
Bishop Colmore and it was cause of great enthusiasm and 0pt$mism in the
matter of the native ministry. He had participated with Bishop Ferrando
in the ordination to the priesthood of the clergy of the Church of Jesus.
The National Council in New York had tzken the financial responsibility

for the work at Quebrada Limdén and associate missions and agreed to pur-

Bishop Suffragan of Puerto Rico at the meeting of the House of Bishops in

Dallas, Texas on Nov. 14, 1923. Credit is given to Fathers Haughwout and
Modesto Rivera for this union for they were instrumental in the preliminary
conversations between Bishops Colmore and Ferrandoe.

Another event of the same nature and of immende importance to the
Church in Puerto Rico was the ordination to the diaconate of the Messrs.
Antonio and Aristides Villafafie at St. Luke's Church, Puerta de Tierra on
Dec. 30, 1923. With these ordinations the total number of Puertorrican
clergy was seven and one candidate for Holy Orders, also Puertorrican.
Three of the newlpriests remained in the rural work in and near Quebrada

Limén while Father Mgdesto Rivera was appointed assistant at Holy Trimity
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Church’ under the Rev. P. D. Locke. The Rev. Antonio Villafafie went to
Mayaguez as assistant to Father Saylor and the Rev. Aristides Villafarie
remained at St. Luke's, Puerto de Tierra as assistant to Father Haughwout.
The following year both deacons were ordained priests, remaining as cur-
ates at their respective missions.

Among the new lay workers mention at this convocation were Miss Ethel
A, Stevens who came to Puerto Rico to act as the Bishop's secretary and
who soon after was appointed teacher at the mission school of E1 Coto de
Manati where she served for several years, Miss Edna Hastings, parish
worker at St. Luke's, Puerta de Tierra, (Miss Hastings later was married
to the Rev. Antonio Villafafie and has rendered a most valuable service to
the Church as a faithful and devoted companion to her husband), and Miss
"Ethel M. Robinson, who after a year's temporary stay in Puerto Rico vol-
unteered to work here and continued the work of St. Elizabeth's in Ponce,
transferring it to Santurce under the-name of St. Catherine's Training
School for women workers.

During the year 1924 an experiment was made in the creation of an
Executive Council and the experiment resulted so successful that the Bish-
op expressed his satisfaction and appreciation and requested the committee
on Constitution and Canons to prepare a canon covering the subject.

S5t. Andrew's Church was finished during the summer of 1924 and conse-
crated on St. Andrew's Day of the same year. The lestimated cost of the
building was $20,000., but it actually cost $13,000. due to the fact that
Father 8aylor gave the work his personal supervision and attention. Father
-Saylor was a man who not only was a very efficient priest but also an able
'—,'Eﬁaint of architect/fe and massonry.

The Church at El Coto de Mﬂnatf was enlarged to almost double its or-
iginal size and a handsome tower built at the west end. This was possible
by a gift from a lady friend of the Drostes in the United States.

A chapel at the Bishop's residence and of fice in the Condado was pre-
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péred which was a great blessing and comfort not only to the Bishop and
his family but also to the many church people living in the community.

The Executive Coupcil authorized the Rev. P. D. Locke, rector of
Holy Trinity, Ponce, to buy a piece of land with a building on it for the
new mission of St. Mary the Virgin in Canas (Clausells), Ponce. This mis-
sion was started through the missionary zeal of Father Modesto Rivera, as-
sistant at Holy Trinity.

The new Spanish Hyvmnal was published by Father Haughwout who had been
working at it for several months. It was really an excellent Episcopal
Church Hymnal,

Father Haughwout resigned and Father Aristides Villafafie became priest
in charge of St. Luke's, Puerta de Tierra.

Frthr Ramén Cortés, one of the clergy of the Church of Jesus, was
brought into the Church by Bishop Ferrando, ordained deacon and sent to
the Quebrada Limdn mission with special charge of St. Peter's, E1l Mato.

Mr. Frank D, Edmunds of New York was appointed as farm manager at

Quebrada Limén. There were plans to start a vocational school.

Messrs. Esteban Reus Garcfa and Vernon Lane, students at DuBose School

in Tennessee, were ordained deacons at St. John the Divine Cathedral (St.
James' Ghapgﬂq.c;:l Jan. 6, 1926 and came down the following day, Mr. Reus-
Garcia to assist in the work at El Coto de Manati and Mr. Lane at St.
Faul's Church, Frederiksted, 5t. Croix, V. I. Mr. Harry a Stirling, also
a DuBose man,had been ordained deacon at St. Paul's Church on Aug. 2, 1925
and transferred to St. John's, Christiansted, St. Groix, V. I.

The nurses' home at St. luke's Hospital was built. It was a long-
felt need in the life of the hospital.

The new Church at Holy Trinity, Ponce was consecrated on April 11,
1926, a gift almost entirely from the Second Frovince of the Church. The
Sanctuary was given in memory of Bishop VanBuren. The bells and lighting

fixtures were given by friends of Mr. Noyes, a member of the congregation.
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_ ee beautiful stained s winéggg in the chancel were given by Mr.

Noyes and the mahogany pews and choir stalls were a gift from Mr. E. K.
Junghans who left at his death in 19387one thousand dollar legacy for the
care of them. Mr. Junghans was convocation treasurer for several years.

A piece of land was bought at Magueyes, Km. 5, Ponce-Adjuntas Road,
sufficient for a church and rectory.

A property next door to St. Andrew's Mission was bought to be used
by the St. Andrew's Craft Shop and needdd very badly to meet the growth
of the work there.

The Bishop mentioned in his ammual charge at the 19206 convocation
that Puerto Rico had stood third in the list of dioceses and missicnary
districts in payment of budget gquotas and pleaded to keep on with the
good record. Puerto Rico was already paying $1,245.00 for thethudgat
quota and $202. for diocesan missions and $133. for convocation e xpenses.
A beginning was made towards a permanent Episcopal fund. There was al-
ready a committee on the support of the Episcopate as per Article V111 of
our Constitution and Canons. He also, for the second time, made stress
on the need of self support and the need also of a strong diocesan organ-
ization of the Woman's Auxiliary and a church school service league.

Bishop Ferrando, by resolution of the House of Bishops at thel925
GCeneral Convention, was assigned to undertake the work of translating into
Spanish for the various Spanish speaking districts. A short compilation
from the Book of Common Prayer had been made by a committee from the dis-
tricts, upon which Bishop Ferrando had represented Fuerto Rico, and was
ready for the pinters.

At the 1927 convocation it was reported that a piece of land adjoining
St. Andrew's mission had been purchased, giving to it nearly the entire
square back of the mission buildings. The property at Stop 20, Santurce
which had been rented for St. Catherine's Training School was purchased,

enabling the school to enter a larger field of service. One of the rooms
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in the hause was remodelled into a splendid chapel. A chapel was built

at Quebrada Ceiba, St. Matthew's, and another at El Mato, St. Peter's,
both in the Quebrada Limon district. A summer camp was erected on a hill-
top in Quebrada Limdén called "Camp Peggy Rogan" for St. Catherine's school
girls. This camp was given in memory of a girl from s—weedsse=chuseh
{anstiebome: Clendale, Ohio.

Another notable pilece of work begun in the district was the mission
started at Las Cuevas; Trujillo Alto by Father Aristides Villafafie. This
project was backed by Mr. F. T.’al!fpinosa, a vestryman of St. John's Church
who owned a large piece of land there and had given to the Church the ne-
cessary land for a chapel and a rectory. Services began in a tobacco
shed owned by a nominal Roman Catholic neighbeor. He and his family all
were received into the Church. 'This shed was used during the week for
cock fights. These were discontinued at the request of Father Villafafie
soon after a congregation of some size was built up. Three students of
S5t. Catherine's Training School assisted in the church school. The mission
was called S5t. Hiida's.

At Barahona, Morovis the Rev. J. F. Droste started a mission connected
with the Hesurrection, Manati. The Rev. E. Reus-Gareia who had been made
a priest on Aug. 22, 19206 was placed in charge of the mission, holding ser-
vices on week days and Holy Communion and Church School on Sundays. At
first he used a motorcycle and later on a second hand Ford was purchased.
The building, which had been remodelled into a fine chapel, had been a .
small movie house.

The rectory at All Saints, Vieques was destroyed by fire.

Through the generosity of certain members of St. Bernard's parish,
Bernardsville, N. J. a winter conference was held at St. Andrew's, Mayaguesz
under the leadership of the Rev. T. A. Conover, rector of St. Bernard's.
Miss Newbold, National Council Bield 8ecretary of the Girls Friendly Soci-
ety, Miss Adelaide Case of Columbia College, New York and Dr. Edmunds of
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General Theological Seminar.}r were the members of the faculty. A committee
was appointed to draw up a curriculum for three years and to interest the
Department of Education of the National Council in the project. Father
Conover assisted Bishop Colmore, taking part in the Bishop's Crusade which
was instituted at the last General Convention. Bishop Colmore requested
the Presiding Bishop to relieve him of the work of the Church in the Domin-
ican Republic so that he could devote all his time more effectively to
Puertec Rico and the Virgin Islands.

For the first time in some years convocation, meeting at St. Thomas,
V. I. on Jan. 23, 1928, received a new mission. St. Hilda's Mission, ful-
filling all the canonical requirements, was accepted as an organized mission.

The 1929 convocation was held in Mayaguez, Jan. 21. Due to the tremen-
dous hurricane that swept Puerto Hice on Sept. 13th the previous year, this
convocation had to deal with ways and mean s for the rehabilitation of the
island's work. The Bishop submitted a detailed list of estimates for re-
placing destroyed and damaged pmper’tiés. General Convention, held in
October, 1928 passed a resolution requesting the Church in the United States
to provide the sum of §202,600. for restoration of the Church's properties
in Puerto Rico and South Florida which had also suffered severe damages on
account of the same hurricane. 8t. Iuke's Hospital was badly damaged and
the residence of Father Reus Garcia, assistant at E1l Coto de Manati, was
completely destroyed. The rocf of the Church there was also blown away.
The Chapel at Barahona was destroyed completely amd there were several other
minor damages to church properties in the Quebrada Limén and San Juan areas.

Advantage was taken of the hurricane cenditions to change the residence
of Father Reus-Garcia from E1 Coto de Manati to Barahona with the idea in
mind to extend our missionwork along the Ciales-Adjuntas road and join the
Quebrada Limén missions on the southern part of the island, a project mre-

sented the previocous year to convocatien by Bishop Ferrande. The plan meant

-
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also moving a c¢lergyman tn-Adjuntas to live and the building of two
country chapels. Bishop Colmore asked the endorsement of the project

and backing financially. He mentioned of course the need of more clergy
and again reminded convocation of his plans for the establishment of a
geminary in San Juan near the center of church work already developing,
to ask for the appointment of a priest with whose family these students
would live, to instruct and order their lives, making use of the high
school and university for scholastic instruction and of any of the clergy
in the district who might be willing and able to assist in the teaching.
Convocation passed a resolution endorsing the project of establishing new
work between Utuado and Adjuntas but no financial backing of it. There
were already two young Puertorrican men at DuBose School, Messrs. Lauro
-Baugzd and Luis Castro Quesada. There were four others applying for pos-
tulantship.

As a beginning towards self support a resolution was passed that all
missions in the district be expected to raise a certain percentage of the
total salary of the priest in charge, to be decided by convocation, and
the amount be deducted from the salary of the priest. Convocation did not
decide as to the percentage. This action was taken in response to Bishop
Colmore's statement in his annual address stressing again the point that a
beginning should be made toward self support and to increase it every year.
It was very convincing. ©St. Hilda's Chapel was built and it was consecrated
on Dec. 27, 1928.

St. John's Church was sold in May, 1928 and the proceeds were to be
used toward the construction of a new church in Santurce. In the meantime
servicesa were held in S5t. Catherine's School Chapel.

A home for the missionary agrifulturist was build in Quebrada Limon.
A site had been purchases (four acres) at the highest point on the Yauco-

Lares Road for the building of a modest rest house for clergy and other
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church workers. The money for the project was raised by Mrs. Colmore

and Mrs. Boynton who visited the district the winter before. A new rec-
tory was built in Vieques to replace the one destroyed by fire.

The first two Puertorricans to attend the Provincial Synod as de-
puties, elected by convocation, were Father Aristides Villafafie who at-
tended in 1927 and Father Reus Garcia in 1929. Both had wonderful ex-
periences in learning first hand about the work of the Church in the
Province.

Dr. John W. Wood, Executive Secretary of the Department of Missions,
visited Puerto Rico from March 25 to April 4, 1929. His visit was of
great benefit materially, especially in a better understanding of our
aims, policy and methods in prosecuting God's work in Puerto Rico.

The winter conference of this year was a great sugcess and blessing.
Besides Father Conover other distinguished personalities contributed to
the success of the conference, - Dr. E. C,Chorley, Miss Mabel Cooper,
Miss Marian C. Ward and Miss Mildred Brown. We had a visit also from
Miss Josephine Bumstead, Latin American Secretary of the Woman's Auxiliary
of Massachusetts. |

Ground was broken on Feb. 22 for St. John's Church and 8t. Cather-
ine's Training School and the corner stone laid on St. John the Baptist
Day. St. Catherine's School moved into their building during the Christ-
mas holidays and appropriate services of dedication were held on New Year's
Day. This building cost nearly forty thousand dollars.

A property was purchased on Hobles Street not far from the Church
for the use of the seminary. The value of it was §$12,000.

A small building was added to the property at St. Hilda's, affording
room for a clinic which was a great need in the community. Referring to
this the Bishop said; "As stated in my address last year, I repeat that
this is, to my mind, our most important and necessary future development.

We have adopted the policy of seeking the unshepherded in the rural dis-
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- tric%s of this island and everywhere we have undertaken it great success
had attended our efforts, so much that we are being urged on many sides
to extend the church work into other communities. Fathers Aristides
Villafafie, Reus Garcia, Droste and Locke are all trying to answer the
call that has repeatedly come to them. Other fields have been offered
but our present staff of clergy is unable to accept. Iive young men
are ready to enter owr seminary in September.”

The 1930 convocation was held at the Bishop's Chapel and Episcopal
residence in the Condado on Feb. 13 and 1lk. The Bishop reported the
death of Miss Sarah Davidson, parish worker in Vieques, at the age of
eighty-two, having worked in the field for almost twenty-five years.

She was buried at the Quebrada Limon Cemetery, having died at St. Luke's
Hospital in Ponce on Jan. 30, 1930. Father Hermenegildo Maldonado, mis-
sionary priest at Quebrada Limén, died on Dec. 10, 1929 also at St. Luke's
Hospital and was buried at Quebrada Limén. These were two great losses
to the Church in Fuerto Rico.

With the Hurricane Emergency Fund damages caused by the hurricane
in Puerto Rico and the Virgin Islands were repaired. A new church and
rectory wasrbuilt in Barahona,; Morovis and also at Quebrada Ceiba,
Pefiuelas.

The Bishop reported the acceptance, with the consent of the Council
of Advice, of Father Felipe E. Cintron, a former Roman priest, as a priest
of this Church, with the understanding that he would be employed in mis-
sionary work among Spanish speaking people in New York City, and the in-
vitation to Father Julio Garrett, an ex-Roman Sishop of Bolivia, S. A.,
to work in the Church in Puerto Rico.

For the first time the Bishop's address was translated into Spanish

L-and printed in the Journal of 1930; also an estimate of property valua-
U tion as of 1930 including properties inithe Virgin Islands. In hig ad-

dress the Bishop made the following important remarks: "I know from
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twenty-six years' experience in Latin America that a priest or parish

worker or teacher can accomplish ten fold, even one hundred fold more
with their own people than can a worker of equal knowledge and ability
who comes from the cutside. We have already opened our training school
for clergy and the Rev. Victor Dowdell, PhD. has been appointed for this
work. Father Aristides Villafafie has also given his time and interest
to this institution, taking care of it temperarily, until our regular
warden may come. 1 hope that there will be four students at the begin-
ning of this week and that in the course of a very few years we will be
ordaining more young men to the priesthood. These twe institutions (St.
Catherine's and Seminario San Miguel) will supply our missions in Puerto
Rico with Puertorrican men and women who are needed to carry out the work
of the Episcopal Church in this island:

‘ The new church building for St. John the Baptist was completed and
used regularly since Feb. 2, 1930. On May 30, 193§ St. Joseph's Chapel
at Caimito, Rbio Piedras was consecrated. This building was largely con-
structed with lumber salvaged from the old St. Catheriné's building. The
history of this mission is closely connected with that of St. Hilda's at

Las Cuevas and as a project of the extension work undertaken by Father

Aristides: Villafafie.

f/-a* On Sept. 1L the Chapel of the Transfiguration at Las Rubias was con-

! secrated. This is built on the land purchased for the diocesan rest house,
‘ Quinta Tranquila, and & large part of the building is made of material

| from St. Luke's Hospital after it was demolished.

I On @ct. 13 the Chapel of the Epiphany was consecrated in Barrio lLa

/ Yeguada near Vega Baja. This mission was connected with the Church of the

Resurrection, E1 Coto de Manati. Father John Droste and his wife had
bought the land and constructed the building and turned it over to the

Church.
~ On May 1lth the dispensary building at the Ascension Mission in Bar-
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- *ézguni, Morovis was blessed. This little building was zlso constructed

‘with lumber salvaged from old St. Catherine's building and the labor
paid through a gift made to Father Heus Garcia by Mrs. Flora Swiggett of
St. John's Church, Santurce.

The Church of the Resurrection at El Coto, after the enlargement and
remodeling, wms—eemserraterd and the new parish house, built during the
yaafﬁ“ﬁlessed on Oct. 26,1420

Another property was purchased at Mayaguez with a gift from the Girls!
Friendly Society of the United States as their annual missionary effort.
This property completed the church control of the entire block in which
St. Andrew's lMission is situated.

The new revised edition of the Book of Common Prayer translated into
Spanish arrived in Puerto Rico. The book had been reduced in size by the
‘elimination of certain portions which were not commonly needed in the
pews and by the use of much thinner paper. The splendid work of transla-
tion was done mostly in the Missionary District of Cuba and the Bishop of
Cuba, as chairman of the committee, was in charge of the pulblication of
it, In reporting about this matter Bishop Colmore made this statement:
"It is well said that the Book of Common Prayer is one of the greatest
missionaries the Church sends out and I am very glad to be able to record
here the arrival and use of the new revision of the Prayer Book translated
into Spanish."

The Hymnal prepared and edited by Father Haughwout was getting old,
it needed revision and enlargement and many missions had few left while
the new ones had harly any, but the Bishop had to say that there was no
hope of an early publication of an adequate Church Hymnal and recommended
the continual use of the present one and the reprinting of more copies as
needed. _

In regard to Religious Education we were facing a critical situation.

A great number of people had been brought into the Church, particularly

-
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" children in our Church Scﬁenls”anﬂ they needed to be carefully instructed
in the doctrines and teachings of the Church. This situastion was one of
the most important issues in the work of the distriet. Miss Ruth John-
son of Hartford, Conn. had been supplying for Miss Robinson while she was
in the United States on sick leave, and had been giving instruction to
St. Catherine's seniors in Sunday School work and carrying on model
Church School classes and was preparing weekly lessons translated into
Spanish which were to be used in the district after approval by the com-
mittee on Religious Education.

St. John's School (day) in the Condado ceased to be a church insti-
tution and continued under the auspices of a committee of patrons. The
new arrangement met with reasonable success. This school was not re-
-ceiving the necessary amount of financial support from the parents of
the children and presented a financial loss each year even in addition
to the amount spent annually by the Department of Missions. The appro-
priation was transferred to the school at Quebrada Limén.

St. Andrew's Craft Shop, under the able direction of Miss Mildred
Hayes, e specially trained for that kind of work, was progressing and
meeting with great success. It is not only an industrial shop but also
a school where the girls learn and are trained in the different arts of
craftsmanship.

In regard to Advance Work,at the General Convention of 1928 held in
Washington, D. C., it was decided that in the last year of the triennium
the Church should make the determined effort to raise one and a half
million dollars for advance work in the mission field throughout the
Church. Puerto Rico had an assignment of projects: - St. Mark's Church,
Magueyes, Holy Trinity Rectory, Ponce, and of course the Virgin Islands
had a chapel at St. Thomas, land and a new rectory for St. John's,

Christiansted. Father Reus Garcia had been sent by the National Council
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on & spesking tour in the dioesse of Gerogis =nd Texss. Dus to the de-
pression, these two dioceses were not sble to meet thelr full obligstions
and only Msgueyes, Ponce snd St.John's , Chmlstisnsted, received in perd
the benefits of the cempzign.

Fre, Cintrdn and Gerrett were finelly offieislly received from the
Romen Communion, Fether Cintron continuing in cherge of the Spenish work
in Few York under the auspices of the diocese of New York snd Fr.Gerrett
as assistent st St/ Andrew's- Maysguez.

$he Spenish work st the Cathedrzl began a5 soon =g the new Chursh
building wes opened &n Februsry 1930, &t Ssntiree, stop 20. Neny of the
members of St. Iuke's Church in Pta, de Tierra, had moved to Sautfuwree,
particnl=arly to Barrioc Qbrero. Fr. Aristides Villefofle, besides his duties
at 56, Luke's, undertook the hard Job of getting together tha§e that had
meved to this growing section of San Juan Cepitel city. They were grestly
sesttered sbout end 1t wes rsther diffienlt to bring them to St.John's
due to the difficuity in trensporstion mmi& in those dayes sud slso mouey
wes sesrce, Nevertheless, with the vocstion snd fighting spirit of Fr.
Ari{stides, he wes sble to bring them graduslly to the Church in Senturcea.

In the Journsl of Convoestiom for 1931, there appesrs for the
first time the Spsnish Congregstion st St. John's, The vitel statisties
showing slresdy 20 comrmnicsnts end & congrégetion of 75 baptized persons.
The Sundey School had almeedy 21 children with Pfour teschers. The tot=l
raceipts for the year 1980 were 580,40 of which 845 wers psid to Wissionsry
uata.

The 1941 Wournsl contaius & statement by Fr. Aristides Villefafle,
in regerd to the elosing of St.Iuke's Mission et ¥Tis. de Tierre, thst
rgeda sl follows: "Thig Mission was officielly discontiuued on the Sth of

Beppember of lest yesr(1940). For some yesvrs pest it hsd been the puIpose
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of concentreting &1l the work of the Chureh in San Juen in one eentrel
place. So when St.John's Church was built in Ssnturee, I started to
estsablish an Tirmy besis our Spenish ocongragetion there. Later on my
brother, the Rev. Domingo Villsfsfe, begen to hold serviees st the "Ir-
bzpizseidn Roosevelt"™ whers some of our Chureh people had moved from
rta, de Tierra, As & result of thies work & congregetion hse been orcsn-
ized thexs lsst year(l940), through the effort of Bishop Colmore & con-
erete Chepel wes built, end the work is developing quite well. This is
the Mlssion of fthe Imcarnstion eml they have slreedy teien over the
obligations of St. Imxe's Uissionm,

No doubt the new srrsngement is mucP moye precticsl, =nd the few
Church people who still live st PHa. de Pierra come to St.John's Csthe-
drsl in Santurce."

St. Tuke's building hed suffered dsmsges of two eyclons snd an
sarthqueke~ by this time it wes in & dangerous confition and beyond
rapeirs, .

Taﬁ&yhtha Spenish congrfgetion at the G=thedrsl, hse 500 baptized
perschs, 00 communicsnts and 134 ohildren in the Church School with
nine teschere. The total receipte for the year 1951 were 83692.27 end
the expenditures were 33651.52, including %525 peid tow=rds Diccesen
end Gepersl Church work. In neerly 22 yesrs, this congrefetion hes grown
to be one of the largesland most promissing in our Nissionsry Distriot,
Ei?ﬁtﬁzu;;nf our Church people from Mayeguez, Ponce &nfl other Aistriects
of the Iclande, fhat had moved to the metropolitsn ares, have mede St.

Jobn's Spenish congregetion their sviritusl home,



Ca Nov.lG, 1931, Tsther Antonio Villsfshe, who had been trens-
forred slréady from i=ys.uez ko Vieques, wss now transferred from Vig-
ques 0 Quebrsds Limdn, ss Perest in cherge, Fether Modesto Rivera
wes transferred from Ponce to Viegques; Fethsr Cortds from Suebrads Limdn
to Ponce snd Fsther Msldonedo from Megueayes to St. Peterts, Karuefio (E1
Mato). Sti Mark's in Megueyes was transferred from the Jurigdietion of
Quebrede Iimon to thet of Pomee se it wes eoneidered mors converient
to be carzd for.

In 1932, April the lzth, Convoeation met et Quebreds Iimdn for
the firet time as gusct of the Mission. Fr. Antonio Villgfafle was t he
Pri st in charge, At this Convoecstion it wes repor ted thet during the
yaar 1931 e new clinic had been opsncd et laguayes end znother one et
Tuebredse Limdn under ths dirveetion of Dr, Ieigh EtoEkJ These elinios
had dome a eplendid piece of work st the country missions, but hed +o
be diecontinued & year later due to the resisnation of Pr, Stoek =nd
her deeision %o Join a religious order in the United States,

Tursuent to the poliey of interesting ourselvss perticulsrly
in the extension of the Church's work inm the rupsl digtricts, Tr.Garrett
hed besn dsvoting part of his efforte to the work in the mountzins
between Msy:souez snd Yeuco. The Mission of the Trensfisuration wes or-
ganizsd, ae wes slso the Mission of 5%, Anve 4in the mandeipality of
Sebane Grande. Both were receir:ad by Conwocation ssm orgenized Misgions,
From the Church of the Asesneion in Bershona, liorovie, Fr. Reus-tarcis

hed gone to Pusnedo on the southern hills of lenatl end hed established

the unew Wission of the Holy Apostles which wes g&cceplod a8 sn orgenized

¥Mission in ¥ey 1930.
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The insistence on our part upon the catholicity of the Episcopal
Churgéh was having its effect upon the people. While at first there
seemed to be some suspicion of us the large number of baptisms adminis-
tered at these missions showed that the people had given the Church their
entire confidence and had recognized her as fulfilling their spiritual
needs and requirements.

Since Sept. 1, 1931 Father Bartolomé Bover, an ex-Roman priest, be-
came a temporary assistant instructor at the Seminary. The Bishop gdve
him temporary license to officiate in the district.

At the'{'convocation the Bishop requested the increase of the dioces-
an mission funds in view of the increasing work in the district. Convo-
.cation increased this item from $152. to $304. and also the missionary
quota from £1,200. to $1,400.

It Waa":"announced that it was necessary to reduce all salaries through-
out the missionary field by ten percent and in addition four pecent of
non-salary items due to the fact that the dioceseshad not promised enough
support for the general work of the Church.

A fine concrete school building was constructed at E1 Coto, Manati
during the summer of 1931. The Board of Trustees of the Church of Jesus,
at the request of Bishop Ferrande, transferred all the property at Que=
brada Limén not held by our Church to the Domestic & Foreign Missionary
Society. The National Council accepted it with thanks and appreciation.

ReGray, Bebey-dani 11,1933, for many

1
-

associated with the Missionary Society, was a t'r:g_maﬁ-':f;uﬂ
_-"_H-.-F.d-r
cularly to Puerto Rico. A yery intimate person-

Bighep Colmore he had been a very
work-at El Cote

de Manati and Quebrads Limon.
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During the year 1932 Father Louis G. Meyer came to us from the

Homan Communion; Father Garrett méved to the new rectory at Las Rubias,
becoming priest in charge of the Church there; Father Reus Garcia was
transferred from Barahona to be priest in charge of Holy Trinity, Ponce,
the first native Puertomican to hold the charge.

The world-wide depression and the necessary consequent reduction in
contributions for mission work had seriocus effect in Puerto Rico. The
reduction in appropriations by the National Council had forced the Church
in Puerto Rico to study the relative value of our work and to determine
what could be dispensed with with the least possible dbtriment, still
carrying on the I'-Iaste-:t‘*ﬁ work. The Quebpada Limén farm business was
temporarily discontinued. The Seminary was also closed temporarily and
the students were sent to thelr several missions and continued studying
under the priest in charge and helping in the work there, the Bishop
supervising this training periodically.

The Chapel of St. Anne at Indiera Fria at Sabana Crande, a wooden
building given by Mr. Felix Lopez, built on land given by Mr. Agustin
Pietri, was consecrated and the rectory of the Transfiguration at Las

Rubias was dedicated the same year.

The hurricane of Sept, 20, 1932 caused the total destruction of
both church and rectory in Vieques. Mrs. Hivera, wife of the priest in
charge suffered injuries and almost lost an eye. The Church of San José,
Caimito, Rio Piedras, the Church of the Epiphany, La Yeguada in Vega Baja
and the dispensary at St. Hilda's Mission, Las Cuevas, Trujillo Alto
were also completely destroyed. St. Luke's Church, Puerta de Tierra,
the Bishop's house in the Condado, St. Hilda's Church and the Church and
rectory at Manati suffered considerable damages. After consultation with
the priest in . charge it was decided not to rebuild the Church at La Ye-
guada nor the dispensary at St. Hilda's. An appeal was made to the Na-

tional Council for $12,000. for a repair and rebuilding program.
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R At thtgaionvocatian-the Bishop mentioned the observance of the one
hundredth anniversary of the beginning of the Oxford Movement in the
Church of England and asked convocation to take the occasion of the an-
niversary to pledge ourselves anew to a spiritual devotion to the Church
in her doctrines, ministry and sacraments.

The "Iglesia Viviente"™ was again republished, this time experimenting
on a self-supporting basis.

Mention was made of the organigzation of the priests in the southern
district of the island, forming a clericus, having regular monthly meet-
ings where they discussed matters pertaining to the Church and of common
interest and benefit.

Owing to the financial stringency in the general church the work in
Puerto RHico had been curtailed in warious directions during the years
1932 and 1933. Reductions were made in the appropriation to St. Luke's
Hospital and St. Andrew's school was closed.

A new plan for the seminary students was put into operation, meeting
the students for one week each month for intensive instruction at the
Rest House under the Bishop and two priests of the district. On Mar. 27,
1934 three of the students, Messrs. Ramén Quifiones, Lauro Bauza and Do-
mingo Villafafie were ordained deacons. Mr. Quifiones was placed in charge
of the Ascension, Barahong, Mr. Villafafie assisted at S5t. Luke's, Puerta
de Tierra and Mr. Bauza at Holy Trinity Church, Ponce. These new deacons
continued their studies at the monthly seminary for anotheryear and were
ordained priests July L, 1935 at Holy Trinity Church, Fonce.

More reductions were made during the yegr to the effect that the
Wational Council had to set a policy initthe missionary program. -

1) In schools and hospitals rapid progress toward self'-suppeort, con-
solidation or éhanddmnment and substitution of native workers for Ameri-

can missionaries.
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2) In evangelical work a-figid and thorough examination of all Am-
erican personnel so that only the very best would remain in the field.

3} The adoption of diocesan plans for progressive self-support of
national clergy as is already done in Shanghai and Japan.

This matter brought sagain to convocation the question of self-support.
A resolution was passed that a quota of one percent, increasing it pro-
gressively for three years, on the basic salary of each priest in charge
of a misgsion not paying at the time less than twenty percent of his sal-
ary be accepted; that the said guota be included with that of the Perman-
ent Episcopal Fund; that at the end of three years convocation would de-
cide what to do with such funds. The Treasurer of Conwocation was to
keep separate accounts of these funds. No penalty would be imposed for
“the inability to pay such guota. The Bishop had suggested in his address
that for five years the amount of one percent be accepted and increased
so that at the end of five years we would be paying five percent on basic
salaries.

Convocation elected for the first time a native Pmrtoican as de-
puty to General Convention in the person of Father Aristides Villafafie.

The Bishop also requested that a concrete resolution to be presented to

General Convention regarding the change of name for the Church in Puerto
Rico be drawn up by & committee appointed for the purpose. The year be-
fore a resolution was passed but no definite suggestion was made.

St. Mark's Church at Magueyes was consecrated on Feb. 14, 1934. Ma-
jor repairs were made to St. Luke's Church, Puerta de Tierra and to the
Bishop's house. The Church of San José, Caimito, Rio Piedras was entirely
rebuilt in a more permanent form and consecrated on Sept. 24, 1933. The
Church and rectory at Vieques, rebuilt on the same property, - a fine
permanent reinforced concrete building,- were consecrated by Father Gar-

ret by & delegation from the Bishop,on Pslm Sunday, March 25, 1934.
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Father Modesto Rivera was greatly congratulated upon the conclusion of

the work. Eight more acres of land were purchased and added to the

Quinta Tranquila property which, with the nine acres formerly purchased,
made a fine piece of property of seventeen acres around the Quinta on
which coffee, citrus fruits and bananas have been planted. The day school
at Quebrada Limén was discontinued and a nurse was employed to look after
the clinic and to visit the sick members of the mission. Only one day
school was left going in the district, that at El Coto, Manati. All other
schools had been closed due to lack of funds. :tﬂl the Puertu-eican teach-
ers, graduates from St. Catherine's Training School, had resigned and

gone to work for the government or moved to the United States in search

of better opportunities. Only two parish workers and two teachers, grad-
uates of St. Catherine's, were still working for the Church. On the

other hand we had twenty Spanish speaking missions, one parish and one

English mission, with twelve Spanish speaking priests, t ef—which

Eee T T E L et

The death of Bishop Ferrando on Dec. 12, 1934 was reported to con-
vocation by Bishop Colmore, with a brief history of his life and works,
particularly the eatabliahmegt of the Church of Jesus in the Fonce -
Pefiluelas districts. Through the ministration to some of the people of
the Church of Jesus by Father Haughwout, at the time rector of Holy Trin-
ity Church, Fonce, contact was made with that work and with Bishop Fer-
rando.

In regard to the matter of self-support at a meeting of the National
Council held in April 1934 a resolution was passed urging all missionary
districts to adopt plans similar to those adopted by Shanghai and Japan,
and asking the missionary bishops in the foreign field to report to the

Council their judgment as to how soon and in what way such a plan could
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be put into operation in their districts. Bishop Colmore said: "y feel-
ing is that in Puerto Rico we must depend largely upon the land for a
living and that therefore every mission should have a piece of land at
its disposal from which it might draw some income for self-support. I
gstand ready to do all in.my power to help secure funds for the purchase
of a reasonable amount of land for any mission in which interest is man-
ifested in this matter." " Due to further reductions in the budget St.
Catherine's School was closed in June, 1934, a further cut was made in
St. Luke's Hospital appropriation, in certain salary items and another
four and one-half percent in all salaries received from New York. St.
ﬂndrew‘:a‘"(lraft Shop was contributing the agiount of $1,000. to help in the
emergency. On the other hand our missionary guota had been increased
from $1,400. to §1,750. This included the Virgin Islands who were to
pay $290.00 t{.;IWElI'dE this obligation.

The canon governing lay re presentation in convocation was amended
so as to reduce it to one lay representative for each organized mission
and two for each parish. This change was due to the fact that it had be-
come rather difficult to entertain all the delegates, particularly when
conveocation was held in a small town or rural mission, besides the fact

also that there was an inequality in wepresentation,- a small mission had

the same representation as a parish or large mission.
Convocation was held in St. Thomas on April 1k, 1936. th%m

o P BEERC MBI .  Tyo new missions were mported at this convocation,

St. Bartholomew's at Bartolo, Lares and Annunciation at Rancheras, Yauco.

Land was parchased at both missions, twelve and eight acres respectively,
with a house at. each place where services were held until a church could

be built. These properties were purchased by the Bishop with funds raised
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ia::allj am;‘l'gii-"ts from friends ‘in the United States. The two clergy-
men in that district responsible for the copening of these new missions
offered to increase their work with no extra remuneration except travel-
ling expenses.

The Rev. John F. Droste retired from active work on accourt of age
as priest in charge of the Resurrection, E1l Coto, Manati dfter a long and
faithful ministry in Puerto Rico. At this time there'were no candidates
or postulants and the Bishop asked the clergy that through a sermon at
least once a year the people of the Church be instructed in the duty to

provide materiagl for the sacred ministry and young men inspired to of fér

themselves for this wocation.

¢ . -
the only-day achoolf;hﬁ"ﬁ' henC unning i’n/eﬁe districts” the last
s .

-""’ -~ ..--'f
oné to be closed for lack of funds. o ——————————————
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" On Marcﬁ 25, 1936 the Rev. Messrs. J. Pastor Ruiz and Rafael D. Pagén
who had been ordained deacons in June, 1935 were advanced to the priest-
hood at S5t. Andrew's Church, Mayaguez. Father Garrett was moved to 'the
Church of the Resurrection at El Coto, Manati and Father Louis Meyer was
transferred from Mayaguez where he was assisting to the Transfiguration,
Lzs Rubias, Yauco. A clinic was opened also at El1 Cota with Mrs. Garrett,
a graduate nurse from St. Luke's in charge of the work.

During the year 1937 a little more progress was made in the exten-
sion of the work of the Church in the City of Fonce. Two chapels were
built, "La Sagrada Familia" in barrio Nuevo Norte and "San Antonio™ in
barrio Cuatro Calles, both chapels built with money raised locally by
people and clergy of Holy Trinity Parish. A mortuary chapel was built in
the cemetery at Quebrada Limén in memory of Bishop Ferrando with money

raised by parishioners of the Quebrada Limén missions and friends of the
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Bighop, -the clergy and a large .part .contributed by Mr. Valeis Pagdn of

Ponce who directed the work of the building.

A mortuary fund was created to pay funeral expenses of any priest,
his wife or lay worker, each priest or lay worker to pay %1.50 and each
organized mission $1.00. Payments to the fund are made as deaths occur
in the district.

A piece of land in Bayamon, given to the Church in the days of Bishop
VanByren, was sold and the money used to purchase a piece of land with a
house at Pugnado, the house to be remodelled and used as a chapel for the
mission of the Holy Apostles.

A gift of $1,000. was given by the women of the Diocese of Central
New York for a dispensary building (concrete) at Barahona to substitute
the old wocden structure. This new building not only serves as a clinic
but also as class rooms for the Church School.

A house was purchased and remedeled into a chapel for St. Paul's Mission
at Pastillo (Ponce-Pefiuelas Road). For fourteen years a small rented gquar-
ter had been used for the purpose.

The Rev. Lorenzo Alvarez, formerly a priest in the Roman Communion,
was received into the Church and assigned to the Church of the Atonement
a5 assistant priest.

Father Saylor had been gppointed Archdeacon by Bishop Colmore and given
charge of the supervision of the werk in the western end of the island, in-
cluding the work at the Transfiguration, St. Bartholomew's, 5t. Anne's, the
Annunciztion and St. Matthew's, Quebrada Ceiba, Pefiuelas.) For the first
time the district had an archdeacon. Father Saylor in his report to cen-
vocation mentioned his visits to Guanica Central where he held services ir-
regularly.

On the 17th of December, 1938 Bishop Colmore completed twenty-five

years of service as Bishop of Puerto Rico. On Sunday the 18th a large con-
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gragatiﬁn gaihered at St. John's Church in Santurce for the celebration

of this event at which he received many expressions of loyalty and affec-
tion. At this service, the Parish of S5t. John's through its senior war-
den presented a set of resalutions offering the Church of St. John, with
all its furniture and facilities,to be used as the cathedral. The offer
was accepted and a temporary organization was set up known as St. John's
Cathedral. At the 1939 convocation the Bishop asked the Committee on
Canons to draw up & suitable cancon for the government of the ecathedral to

be presented at the next convocation.

Mention was made of five new postulants, three of them sons of clergy-
men at the time stugying in the United States and the cther two in Puerto
fico.

- After twenty-five years of Episcopal labor in Puerto Rico Bishop
Colmore presented the Church with the following picture: Seventeen priests,
fifteen of which were Spanish speaking; one parish and twenty-one missions;
one hospital; one day school; one industrial school (St. Andrew's Craft
Shop, Mayaguez); four mission clinics; a diocesan organization of the
Woman's Auxiliary; one of the Cirls' Friendly Society. There were 6,700
baptized persons, 2,882 communicants and 3,044 church school children.
Total receipts were $6,620.41 and $1,610.93 was paid tovards the mission-
ary quota for the year 1938. The two farms, E1l Coto, Manati with thirty-
six acres of land and Quebrada Limén with two hundred and fifty were pro-
viding work for the people of their respective communities. El Cote farm
had produced $575.73 and Quebrada Limdén $2,108.03. At St. Andrew's Craft
Shop the amount of $5,871.93 had been paid for labor, having assets in

the amount of $10,462.06.

This convocation in 1939 was held at St. Paul's Parish, Frederiksted,
St. Croix. The death of Miss Carmen Garcia, one of our teachers educated

at St, Elizabeth's and St. Catherine's, was announced. She died while at
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sea a day.aftef leaving Puerto Hico. She was the first one to use the
mortuary fund provided by convocation the previous year. Due to the death
of Bishop Hulse of Cuba in April, 1938 the Presiding Bishop requested
Bishop Colmore to take charge of the work in Cuba until a new Bishop could
be elected. For this reason the Bishop had to make two trips to Cuba dur-
ing the year.

Father Saylor retired early in 1939 after nearly twenty-two years of
faithful service at St. Andrew's, Mayaguez. Both he.and Mrs. Saylor were
very much loved and their ret irement was deeply felt by their parishioners
and the district in general.

Father Primitivo Maldonado had to retire after a serious illness.

The Bishop withdrew his request for a diocesan canon governing the
Cathedral. The three congregations would continue under their respective
priests, the Bishop acting as dean and the two priests in charge were ap-
pointed resident canons. These were Fathers Bruce Reddish and Aristides
Villafafie. Two honorary canons were also appointed, the Rev. J. A. Swin-
son representing the Virgin Island clergy and the Rev. Julio Garrett re-
presenting the Puertorrican clergy.

The mountain work in the Yauco-Lares district continued to develope
and extend. QCarrizales, Bucarobones, Rio Prieto, Lss Rabanos and Mirasol
had been added as mission stations and were served by the priests in that
jurisdiction.

St. Luke's Church, Puerta de Tierra, no longer needed there was sold
in September, 1940 for §$15,000. AldepElliittitimbiiomhomdiationtt=~Comresd

was=ot a5y the money was used for the construction of an auditorium in con-

nection with the parish house at the Cathedral.
At Rancheras, Yauco, a very nice church and rectory were built and
both were consecrated and blessed on Dec. 20, 1940.

At Roosevelt, Hate Rey, a new church was built and dedicated on Jan.
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6,'19a1; Tﬁe wafk at Roosevelt was started by the Rev. Fathers Domingo |
andAristidesVillafafie. The first confirmation class was presented May 7,
1939 at the Cathedral. The Church of the Incarnation is well located on

& piece of land in the center of this new community, leased for ninety-nine
years. This property was finally bought in 1950.

A small parish hall was built at the Church of the Transfiguration,
Las Rubias, Yauco.

Dr. Donald F. Gowe was ordained deacon on April 27, 1941 and priest on
Nov. 9th of the same year.

the Rev. Charles F. Boynton arrived with his family on Jan. 12, 1942
to be priest in charge of St. &ndrew's, Mayaguez.

The new church of St. Mary the Virgin at Clausells, Ponce was conse-
grated oh Nov. 30, 1941.

A very nice rectory of wood was built at St. Bartholomew's mission and
6.25 acres of land were purchased, together with a house, and added to the
property at Quinta Tranquila. The house was rented to the government for a
clinic established there through the efforts of the mriest in charge.

At the convocation of 1942 the Bishop brought up the matter of the se-
paration of the Virgin Islands from the Missionary District of Puerto Hiéa.
There were several fundamental reasons for this separation. A resolution
was presented to the House of Bishops. In the meantime the Bishop had been
meeting with the Virgin Island clergy in what they called "regional confer-
ences."

Good news for the clergy in Puerto Rico was given by the Bishop at the
1943 convocation. The KNational Council had, in principle, adopted a pay
table for the national (native) clergy and other church workers in Puerto
Rico on a basis of premium for length of service to the Church and a promise

of increase of salaries during the year, a minimum of $600. and a maximum

of $1,500.
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. ‘Again the‘'National Council asked the Bishop of Puerto Rico for his
conviction Ias to the proper future strategy for the Church in Puerto Rico
and the Virgin Islands, meaning the strengthening and expansion of the
work, if we were allowed twenty percent increase in our zppropriations and
one hundred percent increase. The Dishop mentioned as the chief necessity
the educational facilities,- if twenty percent were allowed to use it in
the nursery school at 5t. Luke's, a school at St. Creix, V. I., addition
of two priests and an agricultural and mechanical school at Quebrada Limén,-
but if mare appropriation be given to employ it in more educational insti-
tutions and for providing more clergy in various locations and capacities.
There was need of a priest to be called an archdeacon or by any other nams
who would be able to go at any time to the assistance of a parish priest
i1l or under any special strain, to hold parochial missions or do some
special work.

There was anothergreat and urgent need, that of church literature in
Spanish, especially material for church schools and confirmation classes,
and tracts giving general information about the Church.

There was already a committee on the Hymn Book working regularly on a
revised edition of the one in use.

An increase of $562. on our quota for genergl missions was reported,
this including our offerings for British missions which had suffered tre-
mendously on account of World War II.

On Nov. 15, 1942 Mr. F. Reus-Froyldn was ordained deacon at Holy Trin-
ity Church vhere his father was priest in charge.

Mr. Victor Manuel Rivera, a candidate for Hely Orders, had gone to the
Divinity School of the Pacific in California and Mr. Raul Mattei was a pos-
tulant studying at DuBose School, Tennessee.

Dr. Roy Stokes, Director of St. Luke's, who had been doing a magnifi-

cent wark in cooperation with Dr. D. F. Gowe, was called to duty in the navy
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’ gin€h~March 1942. Dr. Gowe was acting director, at the same time helping
faithfully at Holy Trinity, particularly with choir work and young people's
activities. Dr. Cowe had been a tremendous help and an inspiration in the
work at Holy Trinity.

Miss Mildred Hayes, one of the oldest missionaries in the Church in
point of service resigned her position as head of 5t. Andrew's Craft Shop
and went to the United States. She had been working for the Church since
1914, She had built the shop from nothing to the formidable business which
it is to-day. Mrs. Boynton was appointed to take her place interim.

For many months the Bishop had been in poor health. His doctors had
recommended rest and precaution on account of his heart condition. His
great concern of course was the choosing of a successor who could continue
his work along the same policy he had followed in the island considering
our culture and traditions. At the CGeneral Convention held in Cleveland,
Ohic Bishop Colmore requested the election of a suffragan bishop, but to
his happy surprise he got a doadjutor who would succeed him automatically
at the time of his death or retirement which was not far from that date.
The election fell on Father Boynton who had been with us for the last two
years and had learned a great deal aboaut the’ work and the Bishop's policy.
Father Boynton was consecrated Eishop at the Cathedral of St. John the
Baptist on Jan. 2, 1944, Bishop Colmore being the consecrator and the bish-
ops of Milwaukee and New Jersey the co-consecrators. 7The Bishop of Nassau
agssisted in the ceremony.

Bishop Boynton's consecration was not only the first one of a bishop
of the Anglican Communion in Puerto Rico or the Virgin Islands but it was
the first consecration of a Bishop Ccadjutor for any missionary district
of the Episcopal Church. The canons of the Church were amended to make
possible the election of Bishop Boynton for Puerto Rico.

It was in Ponce that two Bishops presided at convocation held at Holy
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Trinitﬁ Church, Feb. 15, i?&h.' The election and consecration of a Bisgh-

op Coadjutor for Puerto Rico relieved greatly the burden on Bishop Col-
more's shoulders and he began to improve in health.

Upon the request of the bishops of the three Spanish speaking dis-
tricts the Presiding Bishop appointed & committee consisting of the said
three bishops to prepare a new translation of the Book of Common Prayer
in Spanish. The Department of Missions of the HNational Council was to pro-
vide for its publication. At each district a committee was elected to pre-
pare suggested changes. A meeting was arranged to take place in Havana,
Cuba.

The Department of Religious Education of the Kational Council in New
York was interested in coordinating the efforts of the three Spanish
-speaking districts in providing church school literature and suggested
that representatives from the three districts meet in Havana, Cuba with
Dr. McHaster to decide upon the literature to be compiled and translated.

The plans for the establishment of a farm school at Quebrada Limdn
had taken shape. The Rev. Ralph K. Webster was appointed for the work and
a generous appropriation for the work was expected.

On June 29, 1943 the Bishop of California ordained Mr, Victor Manuel
Rivera to the diaconate at the request of Bishop Colmore. Victor Manuel
is the son of the Rev, Victor Rivera and nephew of the Rev. Modesto Riv-
era. On Aug. 15, 1943 the Hev. Deacon F. Reus-Froylan was ordained
priest at 5t. John's Cathedral, Santurce.

The poor health of Father Modesto Rivera had forced him to seek re-
tirement from active duty, the Church Pension Fund having granted him a
pension. The retirement of Father Modesto was a great loss to the Church
for he had done a magnificent piece of work in Vieques where he had been

not only a very active priest but a splendid pastor, friend and doctor of

the community.
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* On.Nov. 26, 1943 the Bishop sent a statement to the clergy in Puerto
Rico and the Virgin Islands in regard to the matter of receiving Holy
-Communion, making it emphatic that it is at the will of the individual
and not of the priest to decide the matter of receiving in one or both
kinds.

La Tglesia Viviente, our diocesan paper, appeared with the issue of
June 1943 under z new name - "Revista Episcopal" - and in a new dress. It
was a bi-lingual paper with the purpose of giving a review of the work of
the Church in the whole missionary district, together with articles deal-
ing with the teachings and practices of the Episcopal Church, serving to
correct mistakes and clear up difficulties in the minds of the readers.

At the 1944 convocation the Committee on New Parishes and Missions
recommended acceptance of the new organized missionsof St. Andrew's Con-
tinental congregation in Mayaguez under Father Kenneth Hinds, and Santa
Cruz, Castafier under Father Laurc Bauza.

Father John F. Droste died at his home in Isla Verde, Santurce on May
14, 1944,

The Bishop of Puerto Rico, representing the Presiding Bishop, attended
a conference of Bishops of the West Indian Provinces held at Jamaica in De=
cember, 1944, presided over by the Archbishop of the Province. The chief
object of the meeting was that of di scussing informally the matter of a
more equal division of the territory of Central America in which our Church
was greatly concerned due to our work in the Panama Czanal Zone, and that
instead of the American Church making an annmal contribution to British
missions she would rather assume the care of certain portions of their
mission field that they might desire to transfer to us.

Fat.hr-,:r Aristides Villafafie attended a meeting of Religious Educstion
workers of Latin Agerica held at Havana, Cuba in June, 1944. The confer-

ence was presided over by Dr. McMaster of the National Council, and the

seme was both interesting and very valuable.
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The ﬁ-ishoﬁ and Father Garrett went to Cuba in June for a meeting
of the Committee on the revision of the Prayer Book in Spanish. The Bish-
OpﬂtI-EEXiGO rresided and the meetings which lasted ten days covered all the
work that was to be done and almost ready for the printers.

6 meating of

At the Executive Council .umeesdng the matter of the salary table was
discussed. We found out that the salary table for Cuban (natives) was
more advantageous than ours. It was decided to request the National
Council to apply the Cuban pay table to Fuerto Rico as a matter of jus-
tice. Another matter considered by the Council was children's allowances.
Bishop Boynton presented the matter to the National Council and both re-
ceived favorable consideration.

The Woman's Auxiliary in the United States, due to the crtical time
of war prices, gave the Bishop of Fuerto Rico for the triemnium a sum of
money to be distributed among the native clergy who had children. For
this noble action convocation e xpressed its sincere thanks.

The matter of self support reached its maximum efficiency by the de-
cision that each mission pay its clergyman the minimum of $60.00 and a
maximum of $2hﬂ.mv:;;:;;"&ing to the basic salary.

A committee on Thaological Education was appointed by the Bishop to
take care of the matter of training postulants and candidates for Holy
Orders and seminary training.

By resolution of convocation the Committee on Constitution and Can-
ons was instructed to codify all canons, amendments and resolutions from
the year 1925 to the present time.

All clergy and lay workers were extended the benefits of the Blue
Cross for hospitalization in case of illness by an action of the National
Council at the reguest of the Bishops.

The quota for missions (general Church work) was increased to

#3,000. which was larger than that assipned to sixteen other dioceses

and missionary districts.
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*  The Rev. Canon Reddish reached the age of retirement and resigned
in July, 1944. Canon Reddish had been connected with the district for
several years and was the founder of the Confraternity of St. John the
Baptist, an order to which only the clergy belonged.

The Rev. Deacon Victor Manuel Rivera was ordained priest at the Cath-
edral in Santurce on Sept. 24 and on Dec., 28 letters dimissory were given
to him for the Missionary Distriect of San Joaquin, California.

‘he position of Executive Secretary was created by the Bishops and
Father Reus-Garcia was appointed for the job, having been transferred from
Holy Trinity Church, FPonce to the Incarnation in Hoosevelt, Hato Rey in
May, 1944. He was also appointed Treasurer of the Domestic & Foreign Mis-
sionary Society of the Lpiscopal Church in Puerto Rico. Having been a bus-
iness man before he entered the priesthood he brought to the new work the
exact type of technical training necessary.

FatherAntonio Villafafle was transferred to Holy Trinity Church, which
position also carried the duties of chaplain at St. Luke's Hospital. His
success as a parish priest, his knowledge of the English language and long
experience qualified him ideally for the position.

The Bishop called for a meeting of the Executive Council, which was
held on April 19, 1945. The purpose of the meeting was to discuss the de-
tails of the enforcement of the resclution passed by convocation in 1944
to put into effect the new plan of rural and ecity work and the creation of
a new type of worker for the rural missions. It was approved that the new
type of worker be known as "llisionero Laico", - the duties and obligations
to be prescribed by the Bishops; and a maximum salary of $300. per annum
be paid; to receive adequate instruction for their office; to have an
eighth grade diploma or its egquivalent and to be of age. Reguirements to
establish permanent new work, were alsc established.

The mission of San Rafael was accepted as an organized mission. This
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mi;aiun‘Waa'starte& by Father Ruiz and was the first effort of the Church
to move its activities into the towns and cities of Puerto Rico. Father
Ruiz had established a chapel in his house ever since he moved into Yauco
in 1945.

On May 26, 1945 the Theological Education Committee held a very im-
portant meeting to draw up a plan of training men for the sacred ministry
in a seminary to be lecated in San Juan. The committee was in agreement
with the general feeling of the National Council that wherever possible
it was best to train national ciergy in their native land and under local
conditions. The plan involved training postulants, beginning with their
Junior year in highschool on through their full theological course and in-
cluding the deaconate year. The National Council adopted the Puerto Rico
Theological Education Plan, exclusive of the highschool, and approved the
furnishing of funds to put into effect college and seminary training. At
a later meeting the Bishop Coadjutor was named Dean of the Seminary,
Father Whitley as warden and Father ReusGarcia as chaplain. The Bishop
and Canons were appointed instructors. This new seminary was named "Sem-
inario Sam Miguel” and was opened Aug. 17, 1945 with two postulants attend-
ing university and one candidate for Holy Orders doing regular seminary

work.

Four Sisters of the Transfiguration arrived in San Juan on Dec. 11,
1945. A small convent was built in Ponce on the hospital grounds, part of
the cost being provided from hospital funds, but the greater part ffom the
Community itself. They took up work in the parishes in Ponce and at the -
hospital.

The first report of the "Colegio de Agricultura de San José" at Que-
brada Limén showed that eight boys had finished their first year'!s course
with the school and all of them returned for the second year's work. Dur-

ing the new year eighteen new boys entered the school. The ninth grade
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w&ﬁ added in the plan to éﬂd a grade every year until all the grades
through ﬁigh school could be offered. The Department of Education had
accredited the school and their inspectors had made regular visits during
the year, showing a fine spirit of cooperation and encouragement. Several
prominent business men of Ponce had taken interest in the school and had
helped financially and otherwise. Five ™4 H Club® boys were enrolled.

At the 1947 convocation held in Ponce, Feb. 11, Bishop Colmore made
his last address to convocation, having reached the age of retirement and
was leaving the district in March of that year. Convocation passed a re-
sﬂluticn; with arising vote of unanimous approval, expressing great sor-
row and deep gratitude and apprecdiation for Bishop Colmore's thirty-three
years of apostolic zeal and work in Fuerto Rico. Appropriate farewell
services were held at different missions in the dist=ict, culminating in
a great gathering at the Cathedral where a great farewell service was held
and gifts and demonstrations of love and affection were shown to both Bish-
op and Krs. Colmore.

At the time of his retirement Bishop Colmore left a strong work with
twenty-one priests, thirteen lay workers, one candidate for Holy Orders,
eight postulants and eleven lay readers; four institutions, twenty-five
organized missions and five mission clinies.

At this convocation Bishop Boynton presented the following resolution
which was passed with ohly two voting against it: "That this convocation
accept the authorization given by General Convention of 1946 that our
Church in Puerto Rico be known as "The Episcopal Church in Puertc Rico."

Bishop Boynton became diocesan in March and was enthroned on June 24,
1947. The Rev. A. Ervine Swift, personal representative of the Presiding
Bishop and National Council was present; also the Bishop of Haiti and the
Bishop of Antigua, representing the Archbishop of the Anglican Frovince of

the West Indies. The enthronement of Bishop Boynton was the first one of



[ B ""5;-"
i > I .
a hon-Homan Catholic Bishop.and hiseernsesration the Siprst in Puerte—Rige bﬁ’
Ciemyelishon,

At this enthronement the Bishop created two archdeacons for Puerto

Rico and one for the Virgin Islands,- Father Garrett for the south-western
portion of the island, Father Reus-Garcia for the north-eastern section
and Father Swinson for the Virgin Islands. Father Antonlo Villafafie was
made an honorary canon of the Cathedral on the occasion of the 75th anni-
versary of the foundation of Holy Trinity Church, Ponce, of which he was
priest in charge.

In Qctober for a pericd of ten days a conference of Bishops from the
Caribbean area met for the Ffirst time at the "Quinta™ at the imvitation
of the Bishop to discuss matters of common interest in the work of the
Anglican Communion. The Bishops of the American Church, from Brazil, Pan-
amd, Mexico, Haiti and tle Bishops of the Church of England in the Province
of the West Indies were greatly pleased with the success of the meetings
and at the end issued a Pastoral Letter which was published in The Living
Church and considered as "one of tle best expositions of contemporary Ang-

licanism ever written.t

{:::Ef:ﬁE§E;E;;_19h7 the House of Bishops, mketing at Winston Salem, N. C.,
approved of the separation of the district of the Virgin Islands from the

. . =iV G :!gﬁ”-
-Missionary District of Puerto Rico.which had been united for over a guarter

of a century, creating a separate district under the dizsction-eof the Uish-
op of Puerto Rico, hoping that some day the British Virgin Islands would
be incorporated in the American Virgin Islands and & bishop be appointed
to that work. These islands form a historic, geographic, ‘economiec, cul-
tural and linguistic ynity.

In his first annual address to convocation Bishop Boynton mentioned
the possibility of creating the Latin American Province of the Episcopal
Church. This matter was discussed by the Bishops of the Episcopal Church
in this part of the world at the October meeting at the Quinta and all
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agreed to the idea.

Mention was made of the three new projects - the rew 3t. Just School
to be established at St. Just on land bought from the P. H. R. A., trans-
ferring the San José Agricultural Séhool from Quebrada Limdén. Permission
was given to the Bishop to sell as much land as was necessary at Quebrada
Limén to invest in the St. Just project which would include a new parish
work in the district, conference grounds and a place of meetings for con-
vocation and other church activities. Another project was the establish-
ment of a Youth Center in Rio Piedras near the University of Puerto Riéu,
having in mind also the building of a church ahd to develop all kinds of
prarochial activities. The third project was the sponsoring of more paro-
chial schools. There were already six of them functioning in the district,
the newest one being the Cathedral Academy, organized through the zeal and
devotion of Canon Aristides Villafafle. With permission to use the S5t.
Catherine's building adjacent to the Cathedral Father Villafafie started a
kindergarten and first grade, having at the end of the first year an en-
rollment of over a hundred children. At the blessing and dedication of
the school which already owned an omnibus for the transportation of the
children, the Bishop said, "This parochial school has been organized upon
a rock, the rock of Puertowsican leadership and the rock of self-support.
As long as these two exist the work camnot fail." To-day the Cathedral
Academy, in its fifth year of successful work, has four hundred pupils,
twelve teachers, ten classrooms and grades up to the sixth ineluding two
kindergarten groups; also half a dozen buses, and with a budget of $25,000.
a year. 1is project of the Puertorrican congregation at the Cathedral is
a great credit to the Church and its founder, Dean Aristides Villafafie.

The schools at 5t. Mary the Virgin, S5t. Andrew's, Holy Trinity and
the Incarnation are growing fast and the day will come when they will need
adequate buildings too.

With the appointment of FatherReug-Garcia as archdeacon and in charge
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of the St. José and St. Hilda Missions, Mrs. John E. Levo was appointed
Secretary to the Bishop and Treasurer of the National Council for Puerto
Rico.

Mr. William Lee Richards was a ppointed headmaster of Colegio San Justo
and directed all the building program of that project which included dor-
mitories, kitchen, dining room, class rooms and faculty residences. Father
Reus Froylin as chaplain of the school was moved to St. Just and started’
religious work among the people of the community. The community center of
the P. R. R. A. was used in the meantime as chapel and classrooms for the
school and the house of the administrator as the rectory.

A new mission was opened by Father Ruiz at Ensenada in Guanica.

The new Spanish Hymnal was printed and put into circulation. The
committee under the able leadership of Father Gowe had prepared the best
hymnal ever printed for any Spanish speaking work of the Church. A pgood
number of hymns came from Father Haughwout's hymnal and many others were
arranged, translated or written by Father Alvarez and Lawyer Angel Arroyo.

A new canon governing the duties of the archdeacons was passed at the
1849 convocation.

New chapels for St. Bartholomew's, Holy Oross and Grace were built
under the direction of Father Bauzd, priest in charge of those missions.

A new parish hall was built at St. Mark's, Mapueyes with Father Pagén in
charge. The rectory and parish hall at S5t. Mary the Virgin were rebuilt
and a concrete court (cancha) was built under the enthusiastic direction
of Father Alvarez, priest in charge.

Father Meyer, after a long ministry in Puerto Rico, went to New York
to work with the Puertorricans at Grace Church, Brocklyn.

During the year 1949 the new Church of the Holy Family at St. Just
wa:tszaicated. “The new small parish halls at San José and S5t. Hilda?s

were aleo dedicated. The Guanica Central gave a piece of land at Ensenada

where St. Cecilia's Chapel wa8 bullt and consecrated. The land where the
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“Church of the Incarnation stands at Roosevelt, Hato Rey was finally pur-
chased from the P. R. R. i. and a fine rectory built, Yauco was blessed
with & new church and rectory for St. Rafael Arcangeél, built in a fine lo-

cation. PFather Ruiz at last saw his efforts of years crowned with such

rﬁ"

excellent buildings. L'rqxﬂ

The new revised edition of the Prayer Book in Spanish is already in
use in our churches. The new edition¥ds larger in size and types, mak-
ing it very easy reading for both young and old.

On the 20th day of November (Sunday) in a solemn thanksgiving the Ep-
iscopal Church in Puerto Rico celebrated the fourth centenary of the Book
of Cocmmon Prayer in English and its subsequent translation and adoption
Lo tother great languages of the world. The celebration took place at
Holy Trinity Church, Ponce, the oldest church in this distriet and induded
;elehratinns of the Holy Eucharist, a great procession consisting of the
clergy and lay representatives from all parts of Pu%?ta Rico, wending its
way throughtthe principal streets of Ponce, and ended with a solemn ser-
vice of Evensong by the Bishop. ~ Bishop Colmore, Emeritus of Puerto Rico,
came over from his home in Florida and preached the sermon for the occasion.
For the first time in the history of ocur Church in Puerto Rico such a dem-
onstration of strength, zeal, devotion and enthusiasm was made. It was
indeed a great success and the committee was greatly praised; particularly
its chairman,; Canon Antonio Villafafie of Holy Trinity. An excellent pam-
phlet commemorating the event was published.

A few days after the 1950 convocation the archdeacons presented their
resignations to the Bishop which he accepted reluctantly.

In May of the same year the Diocesan Convention of New York elected
Bishop Boynton as their suffragan. His resignation as Bishop of Puerto Rico
was greatly felt and left the distriet in a difificult situation. Before
taking charge of his new position Bishop Boynton appointed Canon Villafaiie

as dean of the Cathedral and enthroned him.as such. At the ﬁamg-timg he

Ao g
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mede Fr. Frederick J, Heskin, Cenon of the Cathedrsl in cherge of the
English work. The Rev, Angel Escolano, who hsd been prépering himssl?
for the ministry of our Church under Fr, fervett in layssuez, wes re-
esived from the Romen Communion &6 Priest of this Chuseh on Dee, 9,
1900 and contivued assisting af St. Anddew's- lasysguez. At the time of’
the retirement of Fr. Cortds, Fr, Bscolsino was pleced in charge of the
{isslons of Trsnsfisurstisn and Amuneiation, = well s St. Anne.
Mrs., Stanely Igoe was appointed Seeretary to the Bishop. Irs.
Igoe came bto FPuerto Rico in 1929 =s Miss Frencss Hutting to be the Se-
erelary %o the Bishop snd Trses. for the Nationsl Council. Some yesrs
later she married but steyed in the Islend. Seversl ftimes she hes sup-
plied durisng sbsences of the Biahcrp's Secretsry. Bishop Boynton eppointed
her sgaln Seoretary to the Bishop end Bishop Swift confirmed this sp-
poiintment when he took cherge of the District, livs, Jghe hos been
feithful worker of the Church in Pusrto Rico and loved by all. Mre,
in B, Levo, whose work hed been inoreasing constantly, continued es
Tressurer of the Nationsl Counmeil in P.R. =nd Diocesan T“:l:'laa.m:u:ne.':'. rr,
Ramon E. Quifiones is the Tressurer for Couvocstion snd was glected for
thaet position =%t the 1949 Convocationm.
It wes not until Jenusry 1951 thet the House of Bishops elected
€ new 3ishop for Puerto Rico in the person of the Fev. A. Ervine Swift,
&% the time working in the liissi nery Distriet of the Fhilippdne Islands.
Fre Swift wes already known to us im Puerfo Rico while he wes acting
Secretery of the Overseas Depert ment of the Netiomel Council., He hsd
visited Puerto Rico in 1947 et the time of the enthromement of Bishop
Boynton, represeuting the Presiding Bishop and the Oversees Department.
Among the candidates for the Biahnprinlc of Puerto Rico was Dean
Aristides Vi1 lafsfie, who was Sponsozrediby s.lm-::st helf of the clargy of
the District.
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Bishop Swift wss consecrated uﬁ Zscension Day, 1951 =t the
Cathedrzsl Church of Topeks, Ksnses, =t which oconsmeerstion both Bishop
Boynton end Deen Villafafie attended. The Bishop errived in Sen Juen
early in June and was enthroned &t his Cathedrsl on June 24 {St.John's
the Beptiét Dey) in the presenmce of a1l his Clergy endl & larze cougre-
getion, Bishop Boynton attended slso representing the Pressiding Bishop
and on his own &8s former Bishop of the District.

And the Church continues her spostoliec mission under the sble
legdership of the new Bishop. Convocstion was held sgein et St.Just
during Feb. 19 and 20 of 1$52. The opening service wes held st the
Cathedral at which time the new building, adjecent to the Cathedrsl,

- was dedicated and blessed to the memory of Bishop Colmore, who hed
died in June 28, 1950 a&s his home in Winter Park, Fls,

At this convoestion snnouncement wss msde of the reception of
Fr. Jose Vilar, from the Roman Communion., He had been sglso premm ring
for his reception under Fr. Garrett, at Msysguez and after his recep=-
tion continued assisting there until April 30th, when he was transferred
to Vieques fo feke charge ofthe work &t 411 Ssints' Church. It wes elso
smnounced the retirement of Fre. Remdn Cordes end Victdr Rivera, the
former on December 31lst, 1954 =nd the lapter to take plsce on April 30,
1952. Fr. Vietor Rivera was the last one to retire of the goup of
Priests thet came into the Episcopal Church with Bishop Ferrsndo.

Letters Dimbdsory werc given to Fr., Reus-Garcis for the Diocese

o New¥ork, to assist in the work &t St.Edward the Mertyr with the Spanish
speaking people. He left tbe Island lste in Janusry, but returned esrly
in June of the ssme pear, Bishop reported also the aceeptence of three
new postulants, There sre now seven, sll of whom will sttend colleges and
segjinaries in the course of the wear, with the exception of Mr, W, H
Beekwith, Ph.Dﬂfaué Ley Eeaﬂer at St,

Anddrew's, whi will resd
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for orders under the Bishop én Father Garrett whom he is assisting in
the work at 5t. Andrew's, HMayaguez. Dr. Beckwith is a professor at the
College of Agriculture in Mayaguesz.

Sister Teresa Ruth (Miss Ruth Clark who had been a parish worker at
St. Andrew's Mission, Mayaguez) returned from the States after having
spent over a year at the Mother House of the Order in Glendale, Ohio.
Sister Teresa is the first woman to enter the order in Puerto Rico.

8ister Esther Mary, head of the Convent in Ponce, had taken a great
interest in the boys' ward at the Ponce District Jail. She has visited
them regularly and helped them in their spiritual and recreational life.
She has visited the Attorney General and the Governor's wife to discuss
problems of that nature. Through her efforts conditions have improved

-and projects are in mind to build appropriate jails for them. A piece
of proverty has been purchased in Ponce by the Church not far from the
Jail to establish a center of recreation and spiritual help for those
youngsters who have fallen in the life of vice and corruption and come
out of jail wishing to do better. This project is under the auspices of
the Sisters and their chaplain, Father Gowe, and also the chaplain of the
hospital; Father Krueger.

Bishop Bentley, head of the Overseas Depertment, visited the district
the latter part of February at which time he vigited several missions and
institutions with Bishop Swift.

Fathers Joseph Moore of Seabury Western Seminary and Edward Turter of
the QOverseas Bepartman; of the National Council arrived on the island*the

Ht}ﬂiﬂ”&i’_ﬂﬂﬂﬂﬁir to make a complete survey of the work of the Church
in Puerto Hico.
. Bishop Swift left for the United States to attend for the first time

the meetings of General Convention as a Bishop.
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At Bishop Swift's first dcnvoéation the committee on the State of
the Church presented the following picture:

Baptized persons in the congregations - 10,578; present number of
communicants - 3,766; church school children - 3,287, with 92 teachers.
During 1951 - 1244 children and adults were baptized; 389 were confirmed
and 189 weddings were celebrated. Total receipts were $13,903.51 and
total disbursements were $20,385.3L4, the deficit being covered with ba-
lances of the previous year. Total payment to the missionary quota was
£3,529.62 and to diocesan missions £568.42. The Church today has thir-
teen branches of the Woman's Auxiliary with a total membership of 225;
seven branches of the Girls'! Friendly Society with'211 members and the
possibility of new organizations. The United Thank Offering for the tri-
ennium amounted to $925.99. There are a few altar pguilds, the oldest of
which is at the Cathedral of St. John the Baptist. The oldest Woman's
Auxiliary branch is that of the St. John's English Mission (formerly St.
Iuke's Church), and the Girls' Friendly that of Holy Trinity Church,
Ponce, both of which have already celebrated their 25th anniversaries.
There are Boy Scout Troops at Holy Trinity, St. lary the Virgin and Holy
Family. St. Andrew's Clubs have been organized at 5t. Andrew's, Holy Trin-
ity and St. Mary the Virgin, Holy Family and St. Mark's, the oldest being
at St. Andrew's Church in Mayague z which was organized in the days of
Father Saylor and Father Meyer.

The Church in Puerto Rico is humbly proud of its institutions, par-
ticularly St. Luke's Hospital, the oldest of them all; St. Andrew's Craft
Shop, Colegiec San Justo and the Cathedral Academy, the youngest and most
promising. These institutions are almost self-supporting with the excep-
tion of Colegio 8an Justo for boys who pay a rather small amount for tui-
tion and board. There are a few scholarships. The several mission clin-
ics and mrochial day schools are doing a splendid piece of work notwith-

standing their limitations. The clinics receive small financial help fopom
the National Council. —
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Young Peoples'! Work

It was Father D. F. Gowe who first presented to the Bishop the mat-
ter of youth work in 1941 and the Bishop appointed a committee headed by
Father Gowe to coordinate this work in the Church.

At the 1942 convocation the following resolution was passed: That
the committee be given authority to form and administer a district fed-
eration of young men's clubs; 2) that & conference be held for young men
this summer, details to be worked out by the committee; 3) that the Bishop
be urged to procure an annual sum of money to be used for church work ameng
young men as a district activity; L4) that the comittee study the whole
problem of the Church's work among the army and navy personnel, both insu-
lar and continental.

The first two youth conferences were held during the summersof 1940
and 1941 at the Quebrada Limén Mission. The first groups were small and
only boys attended. The years 1942 and 1943 the conferences were held at
the Polytechnic Institute in San Germén. In the summer of 1944 the con-
ference was held at the Boy Scout camp at Guajataca with a large group of
boys and girls. Father Reus Froyldn with the cooperation of Bishop Boyn-
ton, Fathers Gowe, Aristides Villafafie, Lauro Baugzd, Miss Clark and Miss
Saavedra handled the conference that year and it was a great success.

At the 1945 conference there was an attendance of seventy students, five
lecturers and a few visitors. The conference continued at Guajataca until
the Church was able to purchase and prepare its own conference grounds.,

At the new Colegio San Justo where a swimming pool was built and facilities
were offered for dormitories, meeting rooms and chapel, the youth confer-
ence was held for the first time in the summer of 1949. Some fifteen thou-
sand dollars was given by the Young Peoples' Fellowship in the United States

to help in the new 8St. Just project.
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Annual Retreat =

Because meetiﬁgs of ‘convocation were crowded with business and the\,
need from time to time to come together in the spirit of quiet devotien
and fellowship prompted the creation of a committee on annual retreats
which was appointed in 1941,

Annual retreats have been held almost regularly, many of them held
at the Quinta with the Bishop presiding and a conductor leading in the
meditations. OSuch retreats have been very helpful to the clergy of both

districts.

Diocesan Papers

The "Revista Episcopal™ which was a continuation of "La Iplesia 8

Viviente" had a short life.

For awhile we were without a church periodical and then the Rev.
Canon Julio Garrett began publishing a parochial paper "La Iglesia Viv-
iente" which paper was supperted by members of S5t. Andrew's Mission. At |
the same time another local paper appeared in Ponce under the name of “El}
Pan Nuestro! diredted by Father Lorenzo Alvarez with the collaboration of *
several priests of the southern part of the island, particularly Ponce.

A few months later "El Faro", another church paper, began
its life under the auspices of' the churches in Hato Rey, Rio Piedras and
Trujillo Alto (St. Just). This periodical had a rather short life. At
the present time only "La Iglesia Viviente” and "El Pan Nuestro" continue
their publications with the financial help of convocation as per resolu=

tion passed at the last convocation.



